
 
 

SCRUTINY : LEARNING AND LGES 
MEETING 

 
4.00 pm MONDAY, 15TH MARCH, 2021 

 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

A Pre-Meeting will take place prior to this Meeting and a separate invitation 
will be sent from Scrutiny Support Officers to Committee Members only  

 
 

Please note that today’s Meeting will be recorded.  
  

This recording may be broadcast on the Authority’s internet 
 

All attendees will be in view of the camera and, by attending you are consenting to being 
filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound recordings being used as outlined 

above. 

 

 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 

(01685) 725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can 
be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations)  

 

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 
 

3. Performance Measures for Education   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

5 - 14 

4. Update on Activity – Pandemic   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

15 - 62 

5. Forward Work Programme 2020/21   

 To consider the attached report 
 

63 - 72 

6. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions  

 

7. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting   

 To receive an update from the Chair 
 

 

8. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



  
 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Councillors:  H R Jones (Chair) 

                      S Jago (Vice-Chair) 
 

 Councillors: H Barrett, B Carter, D Isaac and M Jones 
 
Co-optees: C Brown, K Phelan, M Symonds, K Jones 
and F Whitefoot 

  
together with appropriate officers 
 

 
 
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Performance Measures for Education 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 This report outlines the changes to performance measures across Education settings. 
 

1.2 This reports considers what performance measures might be used in the future. 
 

1.3 This report considers how schools, the local authority (LA) and Central South Consortium 
(CSC) need to work together to demonstrate sustainable progress for all learners. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The content of this report to be discussed and performance information scrutinised.  
 
2.2 Scrutiny Committee Members consider how performance of schools may be scrutinised in 

the future and what Key Performance Indicators might be appropriate.  
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 A series of performance measures have been published in previous years which have 
allowed local authorities to measure outcomes against other local authorities and in some 
cases measures outcomes against similar schools – these measures included:- 

 

 End of Key Stage 4 school level data 

 End of Key Stage 3 school level data 

 End of Key Stage 2 school level data 

 End of Foundation Phase school level data 

 National Test result information 

 Attendance at local authority level for Primary schools 

 Attendance at local authority level for Secondary schools 

 Figures on those Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) 

 Flying Start audit return (includes take-up) 

 Categorisation of schools’ information 

Date Written 27th February 2021 

Report Author Sue Walker/Betsan O’Connor 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 15th March 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
3.2 In 2018/19, changes were made to published data which removed school level data for Key 

Stage 2 & 3 and the Foundation Phase which meant year on year comparative data could 
not be made. 
 

3.3 For the last academic year and this academic year there will be published data for NEET 
figures. 

 

3.4 There is limited data for Key Stage 4 – current data for Key Stage 4 indicates that across 
nearly all indicators performance at a local authority level is below national averages. 
 

 Numeracy is the strongest subject area for the local authority with only a 0.4% gap at A*-
C from the national average. 

 The gap between the performance of pupils eligible for free school meals and those not 
eligible for free school meals at A*-C is similar to the gap across Wales. 

 Literacy at A*-C is the weakest area across the local authority with a 14.1% gap at A*-C 
from the national average. 
 

3.5 There is no performance data for Key Stages 2 & 3 or the Foundation Phase 

 There is no performance information for national tests 

 There is no performance information at national level for attendance 

 There is no information regarding Flying Start take-up 

 There will be no categorisation of schools 
 

4.0 CHANGES TO PERFORMANCE MEASURES 

 
4.1 For the last academic year, and this academic year there will be published data for NEET 

figures. 
 

4.2 There is limited data for Key Stage 4 – current data for Key Stage 4 indicates that across 
nearly all indicators performance at a local authority level is below national averages.   

 Numeracy is the strongest subject area for the local authority with only a 0.4% gap at A*-
C from the national average 

 The gap between the performance of pupils eligible for free school meals and those not 
eligible for free school meals at A*-C is similar to the gap across Wales 

 Literacy at A*-C is the weakest area across the local authority with a 14.1% gap at A*-C 
from the national average 

 
4.3 There is no performance data for Key Stages 2 & 3 or the Foundation Phase 

 There is no performance information for National Tests 

 There is no performance information at national level for attendance 

 There is no information regarding Flying Start take-up 

 There will be no categorisation of schools 
 

5.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 

5.1 Whilst inspections outcomes and categorisation are in the main positive, standards at the 
end of Key Stage 4 have been erratic for the past four years and three out of the four 
secondary schools have performed below modelled outcomes in key areas during this time. 

 
5.2 Attendance across the County Borough is unsatisfactory which also impacts on attainment. 

 

Page 6



5.3 Whilst permanent exclusion figures are low, there are too many young people excluded for a 
fixed-term. This does vary from school to school and impacts heavily on the number of 
learners being placed on special tuition and in Ty Dysgu. 

 

6.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 
 

6.1 With no national benchmarking figures, it is difficult to track progress against performance of 
our schools.   
 

6.2 We need to consider alternative ways of ensuring our children and young people make 
appropriate progress. (see Appendix 1) 
 

6.3 We can measure exclusion figures once all learners are back in school. 
 

6.4 We can measure persistent absenteeism once all learners are back in school and WG set 
the expectation for all learners to attend with no excuse for absence. 

 

7.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 
7.1 It is the ambition of the local authority to be closer to or above the modelled outcomes in all 

performance measures by 2022, and at or above the modelled outcomes in 2024.  However, 
given the changes in data publication, there is no way of measuring performance against 
Welsh averages, as Welsh Government is no longer publishing this data. Additionally, the 
collecting and publication of various measures including attendance data, has been 
suspended as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic. 
 

8.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT  
 
8.1 Consider what performance measures can be used to demonstrate progress to members. 

 
8.2 Ensure schools focus on improving outcomes for all children in all age phases. This will be 

achieved through focussing on improving teaching and learning. The LA in partnership with 
the CSC has continued to provide effective monitoring, challenge, support and intervention 
for all schools across the Borough, which is bespoke to the needs of each school. 

 
8.3 Work with Headteachers to develop a progress framework for all learners. 
 
8.4 Deliver on the key objectives set out within the RARS Strategy by continuing to work 

collaboratively with CSC and our key stakeholders. 
 
8.5 Continue to work with schools and Corporate Communications to promote the importance of 

attendance. 
 
8.6 Continue to develop the School Support Service (incorporating Behaviour Support and 

Greenfield Outreach Service) in order to enhance the strategies used by schools to manage 
behaviour issues which could lead to exclusion. 

 
8.7 Ensure Flying Start providers continue to strive for excellent outcomes for all children. This 

will be achieved through clear action planning, training and support for all providers. 
 
8.8 Develop closer links with Families First to ensure parents are supported to focus on good 

attendance at school. 
  

Page 7



 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO RARS 
 

9.1 This report links to the following themes and goals within the RARS strategy. 

 Partnership and Collaboration 

 Post Pandemic Recovery 

 Improving Achievement and Progression 
 

10.0 CONTRIBUTION TO OUR WELLBEING GOALS 
 
10.1 The improvement activities identified in this report directly contribute to our wellbeing 

objective: 
 

 Best Start to Life: Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with 

the skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals. 
 

 
 

SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 
  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) 

Date 
Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 

 

Page 8



 

 
 

Appendix 1 
This paper outlines: 
A collaborative approach to delivering the RARS Strategy and securing improvement, 
evaluation and accountability: Central South Consortium (CSC) and Merthyr Tydfil 
Local Authority (LA) 
 

The RARS strategy is a comprehensive document which will lead Merthyr Tydfil through this 
period of significant policy reform in education. It will also allow the LA to build capacity and 
focus its own improvement priorities for education services.  It has suitable aims and principles 
which will support schools, the LA and CSC as a key delivery partner well for the coming 5 years. 
 
Due to the impact of the pandemic on all our lives, and specifically the subsequent changes to 
school life, as well as the changes to accountability expectations nationally, it is timely to refine 
some details in our evaluation, improvement and accountability arrangements and use the 
strategy to step forward. This tactical realignment and refocusing of priorities will allow schools, 
CSC and LA to work together to lead recovery, build on learning achieved through blended 
learning, and to actively support the workforce through a new context for schooling. This will 
require:- 

 a unique approach to supporting every school; 

 the engagement and commitment of school leaders, political leaders and improvement 
partners towards a focused purposeful set of priorities; 

 use the new national approach to setting unique school priorities and each school’s SIP to 
drive focused improvement; 

 acknowledgment of the accelerated changes schools have made in the last 12 months to 
support pupils, families and learning in a range of contexts; 

 recognition of the reframing and subsequent ‘step up’ which each school, and each staff 
team will now need support to do, to respond to the challenges of the new curriculum; ALN 
Act; the impact of the pandemic on learners and staff; the opportunity of technology; and a 
renewed relationship with the school community; and 

 refine and reduce the expectations on schools to engage with specific projects and focus 
on priorities in line with need and national policy. 

 
We know from research that post Covid studies in schools has highlighted that: 

 the poorest children and communities will be disproportionally affected and that a renewed 
focus on reducing education inequality is a priority; 

 that the principles of improvement and self-evaluation are critical for schools as they build 
on the work undertaken under pressure; and are specifically critical to support leaders to 
flex to meet their individual community/ school and pupil needs; 

 the focus on key priorities and prioritising the most important aspects of engagement with 
core skills and family buy-in has been important. 

 
We know from our regular keeping in touch and support and challenge conversations with 
schools in Merthyr Tydfil that: 

 overall schools have reached out to parents well and even the most hard to reach pupils 
have engaged in learning; schools have made their offer flexible according to need e.g. 
schools have made recorded lessons available and in some cases student have been 
accessing these later in the night, also bespoke packages according to pupil needs have 
been structured.  

 schools have worked to maintain motivation by celebrating pupil attendance and 
engagement with blended learning.  

 school leaders are working with Improvement Partners to manage their own and staff 
wellbeing and highlighting concerns about workload, emotional pressures and stress; 

Page 9



 

 
 

 working under pressure has enabled many schools to outperform expectations. For 
example, they have successfully struck a balance with blended learning that has allowed 
for engagement with the home, support learning in core skills and maintain momentum in 
learning.  

 
The opportunity therefore to step up and move forward based on this local experience within a 
wider context of empirical learning from beyond the LA is the opportunity for CSC and the LA 
to combine our support for schools and respond to Welsh Government’s Guidance. This 
approach, will: 

 allow us to build our combined knowledge of schools and supporting us to support them in 
the implementation of the RARS strategy. We will review the conditions and capacity for 
improvement, and focus intervention where and when it is needed; 

 allow improvement partners to use focused discussions with all schools to prioritise the 
support for learners as they return to learning on site and make sure that the trauma and 
impact of the pandemic are managed in all schools to support all learners but specifically 
the more vulnerable;  

 enhance the range of information available for scrutiny by elected members. We will widen 
the breadth of information available at LA level and link it explicitly to the 5 strategic goals 
of the strategy and the 2 overarching themes; 

 engage schools in actively refining the strategy so that it reflects the leadership capacity in 
schools across the local authority. We will work with school leaders to build on their 
experiences of leading through the pandemic and learn how to step forward on this basis, 
making sure schools own this process; 

 enhance and build on capacity  in schools to self -evaluate,  and drive improvement;  

 provide regular, relevant opportunities for monitoring progress, capacity and risk across 
the schools and the services which support them. We will dovetail intelligence regularly 
and make sure it is evidence based and accurate. This evidence will support the range of 
internal and external improvement, evaluation and accountability requirements. 

 include an objective base line from which to judge progress against the strategic themes, 
and from which to monitor progress. This will take the form of an annual school snapshot. 

 
The plan to monitor, support improvement and raise aspiration has to meet many needs at 
once by reducing burden of unnecessary workload and repetitive accountabilities.  
 
Welsh Government’s Draft Guidance for evaluation, improvement and accountability  

 
WG’s draft guidance sets out explicit key principles. The following are direct quotes from the 
draft guidance which support the planned way forward in Merthyr Tydfil.  
 
‘Robust evaluation and accountability arrangements to support a self-improving system’ is one 
of the four enabling objectives of the new curriculum. To be successful, it is crucial that all 
aspects of the school’s system are aligned with and support the new curriculum and its 
underlying principles. The OECD’s report to Welsh Government, ‘Achieving the new curriculum 
for Wales’, emphasised this point. The report is clear that the accountability framework, along 
with school-leaving qualifications, need to align with the new curriculum principles in order to 
avert the risk that misaligned accountability and qualification measures undermine the 
curriculum.’ 
 
Within this framework, there is a clear distinction between evaluation and improvement 
activities and accountability. The majority of the energy and focus in the system should be on 
delivering school improvement, guided by effective self-evaluation, improvement planning and 
support in all schools. 

Page 10



 

 
 

The accountability system, in contrast, is the safety net for when evaluation and improvement 
is not functioning effectively. It should not drive school improvement activity, although it should 
ensure that problems are identified and addressed. Therefore, alongside the improvement and 
support roles played by local authorities and regional consortia, the system requires effective 
democratic accountability and governance arrangements. 
 
These are the three main purposes for the use of information in the new system. Often, 
different types and levels of information will be relevant and appropriate for the different 
purposes. 
 

Improvement – is for the learner.  A wide range of information supports effective self-
evaluation and improvement at all tiers of the system. At school level, it supports schools to 
continually improve and to give all learners the best possible education. It will therefore include 
information covering the whole school, as well as at an aggregate and individual pupil level. 
For other tiers of the system, a wide range of information will be used to support self-
evaluation and continuous improvement of service delivery to support the education system.  
 
Accountability – is for governance purposes. Information available and used for this purpose 
will help governing bodies, local and diocesan authorities and regional consortia to oversee the 
quality of delivery by their own organisations and, in doing so, to fulfil their democratic 
accountability functions.  While not all of the information that is used to inform accountability 
processes needs to be publically available, we would expect the outcomes to be.  For 
example, via Governing Body reports or local authority Scrutiny Committee minutes.  
 

Transparency – is for the wider citizen, telling us about how well both individual bodies and the 
system is doing.  It will include national level information (e.g. PISA data), as well as some 
information at a sub-national and school level (e.g. Estyn inspection outcomes), and be easily 
accessible. This should build and secure public confidence in the Welsh education system.  
Under each of these main purposes for information, the Welsh Government’s aim is to: 

 Increase the use of the widest and richest possible range of information to inform self-
evaluation and improvement within schools’ own context;  

 Clarify the use of information for accountability purposes, so that this does not inhibit 
schools’ improvement or drive negative behaviours;  

 Increase the range and quality of information available publically about schools and the 
wider system to increase transparency and public confidence;  

 Set clear expectations about the ownership and use of information. While the immediate 
aims may differ, all three purposes should ultimately contribute to improving the learning 
experiences and outcomes of pupils. P8’ 

 
In using information, schools, local authorities, diocesan authorities and regional 
consortia should: 

  Reduce their reliance on narrow measures of student attainment to evaluate schools. 

  Use a balanced approach that draws on a coherent and comprehensive set of qualitative 
and quantitative information, aligned to the new curriculum, in a non-hierarchical manner. 
This information will be unique to each school. 

  Ensure that school leaders, teachers and support staff are not distracted from their work 
with learners to gather and retain often considerable and unnecessary, quantities of 
evidence to satisfy different requirements. 

 
Schools should:  

 Use a wide range of information to look at the progress of all pupils and the systems that 
support them, in order to arrive at a holistic view of learner progression. 

Page 11



 

 
 

 Draw on a wide range of different types of information, covering the breadth of school 
activity – including learner progress, well-being and the realisation of the four purposes – 
to inform self-evaluation (consistent with the principles in the next chapter)  

 Select information used for self-evaluation dependent on their own context, needs and 
priorities.  

 Consider carefully, and within context, the use of comparative information, and consider 
how it can support increased collaboration between schools and the sharing of effective 
practice.  

 Make effective use of information they hold themselves for the purpose of self-evaluation, 
as well as using a wide range of evidence either made available to them by others or 
which they have sourced.  

 
Local authorities and regional consortia, and diocesan authorities (where appropriate), 

should work in partnership to:  

 Make available to schools any information they hold which would be beneficial for schools’ 
self-evaluation (e.g. attendance analyses produced by the local authority), as part of a 
culture of partnership working.  

 Share relevant information and intelligence about schools between each other, reinforcing 
their professional partnership. 

 Consider school level evidence and information to: o help determine schools’ support 
needs and capacity to support others; and o contribute to their own self-evaluation of their 
services to support schools (e.g. direct support; professional learning; use of intervention 
powers). This, in turn, should inform Councils’ review of their performance at a corporate, 
strategic level.  

 
Learner assessment information should not be used for accountability purposes. The 
purpose of assessment is to support individual learner progression. Local authorities 
and regional consortia must not, therefore, collate and aggregate school level data or 
create specific local arrangements to gather individual pupil level information.  
Councils should:  

 put arrangements in place to set expectations and manage the quality and impact of any 
shared service providing support to schools;  

 make arrangements to implement sustainable improvement strategies to support schools, 
both in delivering their own direct services and in partnership with their regional school 
improvement consortium;  

 use the information it holds about the performance of its Education function to inform the 
broader strategic level understanding of how the council is operating as a whole, is using 
its resources, and delivering for the people in its area;  

 use a broad range of information to monitor and understand well the performance of 
schools in their area, rather than a narrow focus on pupil attainment measures;  

 build on this broad range of information to support schools and, where necessary, to 
identify and intervene in schools causing concern, using the full range of statutory powers;  

 not put pressure on schools to make short term gains in KS4 examination outcomes, in a 
way that may not be sustainable or in the interests of all learners;  

 support head teachers to improve their schools and build capacity, taking into account the 
level of challenge. (They should not, for example, place unrealistic expectations on newly 
appointed school leaders in schools with longstanding issues.)  

 
Scrutiny Committees should:  

 hold Cabinet members to account for the quality and impact of the Council’s services to 
support schools;  

Page 12



 

 
 

 scrutinise the work of the Council with regard to the services provided to support schools, 
rather than using their accountability arrangements to hold schools to account;  

 scrutinise how effectively the local authority works with the regional consortium, 
understanding that accountability for regional consortia is through their Joint Committee or 
Company Board (see below);  

 monitor and scrutinise the use of statutory powers to support and improve schools causing 
concern, in particular secondary schools.  

 consider the impact of decisions to reorganise schools on the improvement of schools.  
 
Next steps for Merthyr Tydfil 
 
Together, the LA and CSC have developed an early draft of proposals which are open to 
consultation, engagement and development with elected members and schools. Over the 
coming weeks we will work jointly to shape and refine these new arrangements to support our 
local work in line with the emerging expectations of Welsh Government. This is a significant 
opportunity to reform our way of working and support the policy and curriculum reforms within 
education and school improvement.  
 
Our current proposals include:  

 developing a suite of success indicators which will support the RARS priorities and support 
school level capacity building and improvement; 

 working with schools to develop a whole county progress framework for key areas 

 a school snapshot which captures core school improvement priorities (replacing statutory 
targets) and recognising each school’s improvement within its own context. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Update on Activity – Pandemic 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 This report shows the ongoing challenges faced by the Learning Department as a 
result of the pandemic. 

 
1.2 It provides members with an overview of the work undertaken by the department 

during this time. 
 
1.3 It considers what needs to be done next to ensure children and young people have 

the best educational experiences possible in order to mitigate the impact of 
lockdown. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 The content of this report is discussed and noted. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This report aims to show ongoing impact of the pandemic on the Learning Department 

and how it maintained and delivered key services to children, young people and their 
families since September 2020 when the first report was presented to members. (see 
Appendix 1) 

 
3.2 In order to support Committee Members to understand the ongoing challenges and 

the ways in which responses to these have been designed and delivered, the 
department is providing an overview of how the pandemic has continued to affect their 

ability to meet the needs of children, young people and their families. 
 
3.3 Committee Members are asked to consider the report’s content in line with the 

feedback they have received from the communities they represent. 
 

Date Written 23rd February 2021 

Report Author Sue Walker 

Service Area Learning 

Committee Date 15th March 2021 

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



4.0 WHERE WE WERE  
 
4.1 On 20th March 2020 all schools closed for learning.  At the same time a high number 

of childcare settings closed, although a few stayed open to provide childcare for 
keyworkers. 
 

4.2 Learning Department staff were asked to work from home and arrangements were 
made to provide staff with appropriate equipment.  Staff supporting the delivery of 
Free School Meals (FSM) remained in the office for another two weeks. 
 

4.3 Since lockdown, the department has continued to deliver services and support 
schools, Early Years settings and Adult Learning remotely – a summary of these 
activities was presented to Scrutiny members on 21st September 2020. 
 

4.4 Since September there have been ongoing challenges faced, both by schools and 
the Learning Department. 
 

4.4.1 Some part-time sessional staff who deliver face-to-face work with children and young 
people have been unable to work due to government regulations. 
 

4.5 All staff within the department have continued where possible to work from home, 
although when appropriate face-to-face contact with school staff has taken place, 
subject to social distancing and relevant risk assessments. 
 

4.6 During the Autumn Term nearly all schools were affected by cases which 
necessitated the closing of classes, with a number of schools being particularly 
affected. (see Appendix 2 for Attendance summary) 

 

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  
 
5.1 Staff within the department continue to work from home wherever possible.  From 

April 1st three main offices within Unit 5 will no longer be used by Learning 
Department staff and these staff will be given hot desks in the Civic Centre. 
  

5.2 The multi-agency Education Partnership Panel (EPP) has met three times since 
September 2020.   
 

5.2.1 This Panel has discussed the progress towards the Raising Aspirations, Raising 
Standards (RARS) Strategy and have received reports from officers on current 
standards (see Appendix 3a and 3b). 
 

5.3 A Vulnerable Learners Panel set up during lockdown continues to meet. 
 

5.4 There has been an 18.5% increase in the actual number of children eligible for FSM 
over the lockdown period.  In comparison to the total pupil population the percentage  
of pupils eFSM has risen from 22.5% to 28.3% over this period (2,549 / 8,997). 

 
5.5 Schools did not re-open for face-to-face learning in January 2021 but moved to 

remote learning for all learners with the exception of Ty Dysgu, which remained open 
for all learners. 

  

Page 16



 

5.6 Phased return to school 
 

 Since February 23rd Foundation Phase Pupils have begun a phased return to 
school. 

 Children in all KS2 Learning Resource Classes have returned to school. 

 All Children at Greenfield Special School have begun a phased return to school. 
 

5.7 Childcare settings remain open for all children. 
 

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 
 

6.1 All childcare and school settings fully open. 
 

 Breakfast clubs available for all parents subject to guidance on social distancing – 
the aim is to re-open these after Easter 

 Attendance across schools to be at least where it was prior to March 2020 

 Children, young people and staff able to access more comprehensive wellbeing 
support if needed 

 All children and young people accessing high quality educational experiences. 
 

6.2 All staff within the department able to work safely and carry out their substantive 
duties either in the workplace or where roles allow, from home. 

 
6.3 All education settings working in partnership towards the ambitions of the Raising 

Aspirations Raising Standards (RARS) Strategy. 
 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO MOVING FORWARD 
 
7.1 The following will need to be undertaken to enable recovery to be swift and as robust 

as possible: 
 

 Engage with Children’s Services on a regular basis to ensure support is provided 
as soon as possible to those in need and explore devolving this to a cluster 
approach. 

 Continue to engage with Headteachers and Governing Bodies as and when 
further guidance is issued from Welsh Government. 

 
7.2 Ensure that the move for staff from Unit 5 to the Civic Centre is smooth and does not 

affect working arrangements. 
 
7.3 Ensure the commitments within the RARS strategy are integral to all work across the 

department. 

 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO RARS 

 
8.1 The content of this report relates to the two overarching themes within RARS of  
 

 Partnership and Collaboration; and  

 Post Pandemic Recovery. 
  

Page 17



 

9.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES 

 
9.1 The content of this report relates to the following Wellbeing Objectives: 

Best start to life: Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals. 

Living Well: Tackling adverse childhood experiences and developing community 
resilience; improving emotional wellbeing and mental health. 

 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER (LEARNING) 

COUNCILLOR LISA MYTTON 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 

CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

 

 

Page 18



Appendix 1 

LEARNING DEPARTMENT SUMMARY OF LOCKDOWN ACTIVITIES SINCE SEPTEMBER 
 
GENERAL 

 All teams have continued their Keeping in Touch (KIT) processes with children and families and as a 
result stronger relationships have been forged with some groups e.g. EAL, GT and EHE 

 Regular meetings are held with teams to ensure staff wellbeing and to monitor the progress of 
actions undertaken.  

 The Vulnerable Learners Panel that was set up during March 2020 has continued to meet. The 
frequency of this moved to monthly when school re-opened, but this panel has met weekly since the 
second lockdown.  

 Weekly staff tracking form completed to show staff availability for work. 
 
SCHOOLS 

 Schools opened for all pupils at the start of September. 
o After the half-term break secondary schools remained closed as part of a fire-break situation 
o Schools closed for face-to-face learning on 16th December 
o Schools have delivered remote learning since the start of the Spring Term (except Ty Dysgu who 

have remained open) 
o Foundation Phase Pupils, pupils in KS2 learning resource classes and Greenfield School started a 

phased return from 23rd February 

 Weekly attendance of school pupils was monitored during the Autumn Term and daily collation of 
pupil numbers at emergency provision in schools has been undertaken since January. 

 Attendance at the end of December 2020 was 89.53% for primary schools and 86.87% for secondary 
schools.  While many children remained at home, colleagues across Inclusion have been keeping in 
touch with these families as well as endeavouring to encourage pupils to return to school prior to the 
lockdown as of December 2020.  

 All schools delivered home learning activities when classes needed to isolate.  Engagement in this 
varied from school to school, however schools have adapted and improved their approach to the 
delivery of this during this time.  
o Advice and guidance available from the Central South Consortium to support this work and 

continues. 

 At each point of change to curriculum delivery, risk assessments have been updated and reviewed 
in conjunction with Schools, Unions and Corporate Health & Ssafety unit.  This included a risk 
assessment for the EAL/GT class based in Ty Dysgu Dowlais.  

 Following the return to school in September all schools have been supported with liaison between 
Environmental Health and Public Health Wales regarding the monitoring of Covid cases and advice 
regarding isolation timescales and implications across classes and bubbles.  This work supporting 
schools and monitoring cases has been continued throughout the lockdown period during the 
Spring Term.  

 Class closures due to Covid have been monitored and weekly reporting has been provided to Welsh 
Government. 

 Co-ordinated, supported and monitored the rolling out and delivery of mass Lateral Flow testing in 
the four secondary schools during November.  This included provision of lead staff, delivery staff, 
training of personnel, logistical delivery of testing resources and PPE and monitoring of testing 
resources.  Processes implemented were shared with lead military personnel supporting the 
corporate mass testing programme and were considered best practice and were requested by the 
military for sharing more widely. 

 From January 2021 established an Appeals Panel for parents to appeal any school decisions regarding 
key worker eligibility for accessing a school place during the lockdown.     

 Ongoing guidance on blended learning from Central South Consortium for schools. Page 19



CLEANING & RELIEF CARETAKING 

 Continuation of midday cleaning service across all schools throughout Autumn and into the Spring 
term.  This extra resource either provided by contract cleaners or via schools themselves (non-
contract schools) has been funded through the Hardship fund.  

 Enhanced Covid cleans have been undertaken in schools by SOLO throughout the Autumn Term 
and into the Spring Term where positive cases have been identified and areas have required 
cleaning.  

 Relief cleaning cover has been provided in non-contract schools (where identified as necessary) 
o Schools supported with provision of relief caretaking service where caretakers required to isolate 

or shield throughout the pandemic.  School holiday key holding service continued to operate 
during the standard periods of holiday cover.  

 
SCHOOL MEALS SERVICE 

 From w/c 11th September a reduced menu was offered in all schools, with all special diets 
continuing to be catered for.  The service was delivered through a mixture of hall and classroom 
service with more schools moving to a hall service as the term progressed. 

 FSM payments were continued for pupils involved in a class closure that was Covid related 
throughout the term and where kitchens were closed due to Covid.  FSM payments were also 
made in October half-term, and for Years 9, 10 & 11 during the firebreak school closure affecting 
those year groups.  

 Weekly payments have been ongoing since the pre-Christmas closure of schools w/c 14th 
December and will continue until pupils are able to return to school i.e. until w/c 1st March for 
Foundation Phase pupils and w/c 15th March for KS2 pupils.  

 The school meal service will recommence on 1st March.  

 It is hoped that Breakfast Club provision with recommence in the Summer Term. 

 Welsh Government have funded the additional costs for all FSM payments over and above the local 
authority’s budgeted costs to provide FSM, with the exception of the early closure of primary 
schools before Christmas as this was a local rather than a national decision. 

 In January 2020 eFSM pupils were 22.5% of the pupil population.  The number of children eligible 
for FSM February 2021 has increased and now accounts for 28% of the total pupil population.  

 

ADMISSIONS 

 During the Autumn Term all mid-term admissions were processed within statutory timescales and 
there has been continued contact with schools to ensure that all pupils have allocated school places. 

 Parent meetings have continued to take place where necessary, via Teams. 

 Admissions Forum return deadline met for November return to Welsh Government. 

 Online Nursery admission application form devised in-house and went ‘live’ to support pre-Nursery 
admissions in January and April 2021.  

 Pre-Nursery allocations and offers have been made for January/April 2021 and Secondary school 
allocations made in line with the national offer date of 1st March 2021. 

 Statutory publication date met for the publishing of the Admissions Booklet. 
 

INCLUSION/ALN 

 The Inclusion Service and Additional Learning Needs teams continue to support schools, 
parents/carers and pupils when schools reopened and during the second lockdown through a 
combination of remote consultations and direct work with the most vulnerable children and young 
people.  It should also be noted that colleagues in Inclusion have continued to make numerous home 
visits, where other agencies were able to only work remotely to ensure the safety of the most 
vulnerable of pupils.  

 The LA ALN Transformation Implementation Plan 2020-2021 has met all agreed targets during half 
termly monitoring meetings with the Regional Transformation Lead. 

Page 20



 The required statutory role of an Early Years ALN Lead Officer, (EYALNLO) was appointed at the end 
of the Autumn term and took up position in January 2021.  The EYALNLO will provide a strategic 
direction to ensure the local authority meets its statutory duties in relation to children with ALN 
under compulsory school age.  

 A part time ALN Officer, was appointed to the ALN Team to provide support to schools to manage 
disagreement resolution and mediation of more complex cases.  

 During the Covid lockdown periods there has been a clear expectation from WG and other agencies 
that the needs of children with a statement of special educational needs must be met.  The ALN 
Team, working in partnership with CSC Improvement Partners, has been able to support all schools 
and monitor and evaluate how well our teachers are managing to meet the needs of these learners 
through the blended learning approach of face to face and online learning.  All schools attended a 
Teams online training workshop on 18th January, where good practise was shared and the 
‘Continuity of Learning’ document delivered to support schools.  All schools have since submitted 
detailed information regarding their learners with Statements.  This document will also be available 
for professional discussion with IPs during inhouse school review meetings.  The LA will be 
producing a comprehensive report on how our schools have been able to meet the needs of our 
Statemented pupils during this period, which will be shared with all stakeholders.   

 2021-22 ALN Additional Support Funding application process started in the Spring term 2021. 
Schools received the proforma week beg Jan 18th.  A meeting was held with newly appointed 
EYALNLO, Flying Start and Early Years colleagues to plan and further develop processes for 
supporting pre-school ALN pupils’ transition needs.   

 The local authority ALNCo Forum is now well established as a professional learning platform to 
meet the needs of the ALN Transformation agenda in all our schools and educational settings.  All 
training has been delivered via Teams meetings which has allowed between 45 and 52 colleagues 
to participate.  This included ALN Department staff, Educational Psychology Service, Early Years’ 
leaders, Merthyr College and 100% schools in Merthyr Tydfil.  The Cluster Lead model has allowed 
the cluster leads to act as ‘Pathfinders’ supported by Liz Jones, Regional Transformation Lead and 
local authority Officers in a co-construction model of learning and developing professional practice.  

 Over the Autumn and Spring terms the focus has been on leading whole school improvement in 
relation to the identification of ALN, the development of IDPs and provision management.  The 
local authority has seconded ALNCo (Debra Davies from Ysgol Santes Tudful) for 2.5 terms to lead a 
quality assurance process across all schools, provide support to the Merthyr IDP Pilot and keep ALP 
(Additional Learning Provision) under review.  Positive feedback has been received from all Forum 
attendees in their understanding of the identification of ALN and all settings are developing a 
consistent approach to IDPs (100% submission of IDPs from schools for Merthyr Pilot).  IDP Quality 
Assurance feedback report produced for all schools and further training needs identified.  Person 
Centred Outcome Training workshops were held Feb 2021 and attended by 100% of primary school 
ALNCos and three out of four Secondary ALNCos. 

 IDP Pilot workshops are planned with health colleagues (March 4th and 11th) to develop an agreed 
approach to the writing of Section 2c of the IDP. 

 IRIS Connect 3-year professional collaborative learning programme launched in November with all 
four Secondary schools, Primary LRBs, Ty Dysgu and Greenfield Special School.  All schools are now 
engaged, lead practitioners identified in each setting and roles and responsibilities have been 
clarified at school and local authority level.  CSC Improvement Partners in partnership with Officers 
to monitor and evaluate the professional learning programme, and the impact on standards in 
teaching and learning and learner engagement.  

 WG ALN Grant Sept 2020 provided a much-needed injection of money and has enabled the local 
authority to develop sustainability and build capacity in education workforce skill levels. (Funding 
for accredited trainers in PBS Restrictive Physical Intervention; PECS & POPAT communication 
training; WELLCOMM; B-Squared secured for LRBs to replace the outdated Instep assessment). 

 SALT training offered to LRBs and selected mainstream staff to upskill practitioners in their ability to 
meet pupil need – 27 staff trained during Autumn term. Page 21



 Wellbeing training developed and delivered to all headteachers and ALNCos by EPS and adapted for 
Early Years’ practitioners. Staff Wellbeing training also delivered to all HTs, Greenfield and Pen y Dre 
whole staff. Training evaluations were positive and schools subsequently requested additional 
whole staff training. 

 EPs have continued to deliver two ELSA supervisions per term during lockdown via Teams online 
meetings.  These sessions are well attended and consist of peer support, case discussions and a 
small component of training.  EPs are also able to deliver top up training to schools on topics such 
as bereavement, CBT etc.  This has ensured that ELSAs in Merthyr are up to date with knowledge 
and training, supported with case management and delivering high quality ELSA intervention. 

 The regional appointment of the Designated Education Clinical Lead Officer (DECLO) was completed 
in December 2020 and meetings have been held with the local authority’s ALN Team to discuss the 
Merthyr context and establish effective collaborative working practices.  IDP Pilot workshops take 
place on March 4th and 11th with colleagues from health. 

 The ‘Multi Agency Transition Principles (16+) for Young People within RCT, Merthyr and Bridgend local 
authorities has been produced as a guidance document for young people with ALN and will be 
finalised by the end of March. 

 Half termly meetings with Merthyr College and the local authority have continued to engage 
professionals in partnership working and collaborative working practices with regard to post-16 
further educational provision.  

 Systems have been put in place since early spring 2020 in ensuring that schools have the 
appropriate PPE.  This has been refined along the way and has become a role undertaken by 
Inclusion.  Schools now make orders on a half-termly basis which is then put together for them and 
collected by schools from Unit 5.  New higher specification face masks have been sourced in order 
to support the re-opening of schools for after February half-term 2021.  

 Posters were shared and printed for schools in September 2020 showing at a glance the symptoms 
of a cold, Flu and Covid 19.  

 The Inclusion Service has balanced their work in responding to the demands of the pandemic with 
those of undertaking actions of “business as usual”, as well as ensuring that these contribute to the 
Raising Aspirations Raising Standards Strategy (RARS).   

 During March 2020 a Vulnerable Learners Panel was set up including staff from the Learning 
Department (Early Years, Inclusion, ALN, Youth Services, Families First), Social Services, YOS, Police 
and Health to discuss provision, address issues and ensure families and their children are kept safe.  
This work was supported by a detailed database which identified which staff were keeping in touch 
with which family – it was supported by schools who were able to identify where they had concerns 
for example due to lack of engagement.  

 All Inclusion teams have continued to support transition from early years through to post-16 with 
many schools choosing to develop welcome videos for their new pupils. 

Safeguarding 

 The COVID pandemic and the Stay-at-Home rules have required a number of adjustments to services 
that support vulnerable families. There is particular concern about the impact of these changes for 
children at risk and their families as services and schools close or reduce their visiting and 
intervention in the community in order to protect the public and staff. The safeguarding of children 
at risk continues to be a priority for partner agencies of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Safeguarding 
Board. The Learning Department has established an approach to supporting vulnerable learners, and 
prioritising the most vulnerable, who may require access to the Hubs.  

 The local authority has continued to meet safeguarding regulations and ensure that all school staff 
remain in compliance with training requirements.  
The detailed Estyn Self-evaluation form for Safeguarding and Child Protection which was completed 
in 2019 showed no significant areas for development. This is currently being updated.   

  

Page 22



 

 All schools engage in the annual Safeguarding self-evaluation process. All schools engaged with this 
process during the academic year 2019/20.  This has recently commenced for the academic year 
2020/21.  The self-evaluation form aims to enable schools to monitor and evaluate their own 
safeguarding arrangements. The self-assessment audit tool will be used in schools to: 
o Ensure all staff are aware of their safeguarding arrangements; 
o Provide brief feedback at the end of the self-assessment audit to school staff; 
o Highlight appropriate training requirements if deemed necessary. 

 All school governing bodies adopted the Cwm Taf exemplar Child Safeguarding Policy for 2019/20 
and that for 2020/21 which was updated in the Spring/Summer of 2020 and then endorsed by the 
CTMSB at the end of the Summer term.  

 The Child Safeguarding Policy and self-evaluation audit tool are updated annually. During 2020 
further updates were made in respect of the following;  
o Reference to the new All Wales Safeguarding Procedures+ link  
o Updated Prevent information 
o Insertion of a number of links to documents in different sections  
o Inclusion of information on staying safe online and distance learning (in view of the current 

situation- but always applicable)  
o Appendix 10- guidance and legislation – all have links 
o Inclusion of the BCBC recruitment policy in Appendix 11 
o Inclusion of guidance on COVID 19 

 Safeguarding is routinely an agenda item at the Headteacher’s Forum. External agencies are also 
invited to present at to this group e.g. WECTU and Counter Terrorism. 

 “Counter Terrorism Lockdown” Training was due to be delivered by the Police in March 2020, but this 
has had to be postponed due to the pandemic. We are waiting to hear when the Police have the 
facility to deliver this online.  

 The local authority has continued to  
o disseminate up to date information, polices and protocols in respect of safeguarding to 

colleagues in the department and to schools.  
o provide information and resources in relation to anti-bullying and safeguarding week so that 

schools can partake in these activities. The aim of which is to ensure that children and young 
people can make informed choices.  

 Safeguarding training modules produced by Welsh Government have been shared with schools and 
local authority colleagues. These are available on Hwb. Online safeguarding training has been 
developed that all local authority staff have accessed. This now forms part of staff induction.  

 Education continues to have representation on the Cwm Taf Safeguarding Board and its Subgroups 
to ensure that it is aware of new policies and protocols and therefore best placed to share good 
practice.  

 The local authority Corporate Safeguarding Group continues to meet termly to develop 
relationships between all departments to ensure safeguarding and the promotion of welfare of 
both children and adults. This group monitors performance in relation to Safeguarding across the 
Council.  

 The support given to schools on safeguarding has always referred back to the WG guidance 
document on Blended Learning that was issued in the first lockdown and has been recently 
updated. Live-streaming and video-conferencing: safeguarding principles and practice. Originally 
issued in May 2020, the updated guidance reflects a change to enable decision-making at a school 
or setting level to determine the most appropriate approach to live-streaming or video-
conferencing for their setting. All normal standards of behaviour apply in the online classroom and 
as such behaviour incidents will be dealt with in the usual way.  
This includes any incidents of bullying. All pupils and staff have been asked to sign Acceptable User 
Policies (AUP) in order to be part of the online learning. 
 Page 23

https://hwb.gov.wales/zones/keeping-safe-online/live-streaming-and-video-conferencing-safeguarding-principles-and-practice/


Education Welfare Service (EWS) 

 During these unprecedented times, the role of the EWS has been able to evolve into that of 
addressing wellbeing. Moving forward the EWS has been focusing on wellbeing rather than 
attendance. During the Autumn term, in conjunction with schools, the EWS had been offering 
support to try to alleviate any anxiety families may have had in sending their children back to 
school. We recognise that the curriculum has been based in the community for a long period of 
time and EWS has been able to listen to what has happened in this time in order to understand the 
needs of our families and engage them in the transitioning of learning back into school.  

 Training was delivered at the start of term for school based FLOs, EWS and Key workers on how best 
to support families post trauma to enable to support those who need it most in their work. 20 
schools out of 28 (including the PRU) 71% attended this training. 

 During the second lockdown the EWS team has continued to support schools with keeping in touch 
with their pupils via phone calls, texts and/or home visits. The purpose of this is, is to check the 
welfare of the child and to signpost the family to the appropriate agency for support where needed. 
The EWS has been able to able to deliver work to pupils and re-establish contact with the family.   

Vulnerable Learning Panel 

 There is representation on the weekly Vulnerable Learners Panel from the EWS.  The panel 
continues to meet fortnightly. This ensures close working relations with several agencies to enable 
the identification of an appropriate and proportionate response. Where there remain issues with 
regards to confirming a child’s welfare these cases have been escalated to the Police for them to 
follow up. 

Attendance 

 Guidance on the recording and monitoring of attendance continues to be updated as the pandemic 
progresses.  

 Attendance for critical worker children and vulnerable pupils is being collected weekly and being 
monitored by the EWS and a rationalised monthly attendance report will be collated which will 
include persistent absentees for EWS colleagues to focus on all of those who are not accessing 
remote learning whilst in lockdown. 

 In January 2021 WG updated the Operational Guidance on attendance to include fines may be 
considered for a small number of cases relating to persistent absence, which are unrelated to the 
Covid-19 pandemic, and there are concerns about the welfare of the child.  As such a new ‘pre-
warning’ attendance letter has been devised as a tool for those small cohort of families that are not 
engaging in any education. This is to be used as a last resort after school has exhausted all attempts 
at engaging.  

Exclusions 

 Appropriate behaviour has remained a priority for the schools and the local authority.  All normal 
standards of behaviour apply in the online classroom and as such behaviour incidents are to be 
dealt with in the usual way.  This includes any incidents of bullying.  All pupils and staff have been 
asked to sign Acceptable User Policies (AUP) in order to be part of the online learning. 

 It should be noted that some pupils have struggled to adjust to the school routine and to adhere to 
social distancing guidance upon returning to school.  Schools have tried to support these pupils in 
their transition back to school. 

Shielding pupils 

 Of those pupils who had received Shielding letters 91 % returned to school by December, all are 
engaging with online learning and schools KIT.  This highlights the issue that low attendance rates 
across MTCBC are not as a result of this vulnerable group but are a result of those who have a 
history of persistent absentees, which is exacerbated by those who are anxious about returning.  

Operation Encompass 

 The Police continued to provide the local authority with details of those learners who have been 
victims of or witnesses to incidents of domestic abuse.  Colleagues in EWS were able to inform the 
school in order to make them aware of the situation as part of their KIT process.  

Page 24



 This process of sharing information on domestic Abuse from the Police to EWS continued during 
lockdown and remains in place.  

Wellbeing 

 Local authority officers work closely with schools to ensure that timely and relevant information, is 
shared to enable improved resilience and tolerance, and ultimately to reduce the number of 
bullying incidents. This includes information on training opportunities and pupil workshops (e.g. on 
Transgender, Social Emotional Aspects of Learning, online safety). 

 Caedraw, Cyfarthfa Park, Heolgerrig, Twynrodyn and Coed Y Dderwen Primary Schools, the PRU and 
Bishop Hedley High School are part of the WLGA Hate Crime in Schools Project. The project is 
funded through the Welsh Government European Transition Fund and is part of a suite of 
additional support being provided over the coming months to help to prevent incidences and 
mitigate the effects of hate crime in Wales. This project will provide workshops for pupils delivered 
by Show Racism the Red Card and training for staff by Sapere. The delivery date has had to be 
postponed due to COVID 19, but the funding remains in place for this project and will be delivered 
this calendar year.  

 During Anti-bullying week in 2020 the annual Student Conference was held with a variety of 
workshops being delivered online. 96 pupils from 9 primary schools and Greenfield Special School 
attended 10 workshops over the week. Topics covered resilience, staying physically and mentally 
well, hate crime and bullying. The company Bullies Out delivered a workshop called “The Jar of 
Kindness” and Healthy Schools partnership worked with pupils to update the child-friendly anti-
policies and learn how anti-bullying messages are linked to children’s rights.  

 The Anti-bullying guidance was updated in line with WG guidance in September 2020.  

 A Wellbeing curriculum was produced ready for September 2020 for schools with colleagues from 
Central South Consortium (CSC) and the local authority, as well as some primary Headteachers. The 
focus of this is on re-connection, recovery and resilience in light of the current pandemic and has 
been used across our schools.  

 An online Wellbeing Toolkit has been completed and published on the Headteacher’s Hwb platform 
so that there is access to an extensive range of information on supporting Wellbeing- curriculum, 
pupil and staff. This includes a training programme for schools to support this agenda.  

 A task and finish Group comprising of local authority staff and Headteachers has been established 
to update the Wellbeing Handbook. The purpose of this handbook is to provide guidance on how 
schools can make a difference in supporting the wellbeing of its pupils and staff.  

 In November 2020 Council approved the Raising Standards Raising Aspirations (RARS) strategy 
where strong links between raising standards and wellbeing resonate throughout the document. 
Commitments focus on emotional, mental and physical wellbeing of both pupils and staff as a pre-
requisite to improved outcomes. 

 Wellcomm has been rolled out across our primary schools. Wellcomm is a tool that can be used to 
inform planning as part of a whole class differentiated approach to improve speech and language 
and ultimately literacy. Poor literacy can often result in frustration and poor behaviour, so by 
addressing levels of literacy it is hoped that this will have a positive affect on behaviour also. 

 IRIS Connect professional learning programme has been purchased for secondary schools. The 
programme is intended to support the professional learning of all staff within our Learning 
Resource Base classes, secondary schools and specialist provisions. 

 A project for pupils living in the Aberfan area was set up in December 2020 in partnership with the 
CwmTaf Morgannwg Health Board Research Innovation and Improvement Hub . This project aims to 
help capture the imagination of children using enterprise technology, whilst allowing them to play 
and create ideas providing new learning opportunities. The focus of the workshops will be for the 
children and young people to see how they can influence their future and how engaging with these 
projects supports their own wellbeing. 

  

Page 25



 The support given to schools on safeguarding has always referred back to the WG guidance 
document on Blended Learning that was issued in the first lockdown and has been recently 
updated. Live-streaming and video-conferencing: safeguarding principles and practice. Originally 
issued in May 2020, the updated guidance reflects a change to enable decision-making at a school 
or setting level to determine the most appropriate approach to live-streaming or 
videoconferencing for their setting. All normal standards of behaviour apply in the online classroom 
and as such behaviour incidents will be dealt with in the usual way. This includes any incidents of 
bullying. All pupils and staff have been asked to sign Acceptable User Policies (AUP) in order to be 
part of the online learning. 

 Good staff well-being is essential for cultivating a mentally healthy school, for retaining and 
motivating staff and for promoting pupil well-being and attainment.  In September 2019 the local 
authority published a Wellbeing Charter for school staff, this charter was produced with 
headteachers and the charity Education Support. 

 The local authority has commissioned InspireU to work with the schools in the Pen-Y-Dre Cluster to 
further support wellbeing. This work focuses on the rights of the child as set out in the United 
Nation Convention but is firmly rooted in the expectation that all children should achieve the very 
best they can. 

 A multidimensional framework for understanding and promoting wellbeing called PERMA (Positive 
Emotions, Engagement, Relationships, Meaning and Achievement/Accomplishment) has been 
rolled out across our schools.  

 In developing an approach to improving wellbeing and outcomes the local authority, in partnership 
with identified schools, has initiated a programme of skills development to implement the national 
nurture programme.  This seeks to influence the culture of schools and how behaviours are viewed 
and addressed, creating long term benefits. This has also included ensuring staff are trained in the 
approach to provide ongoing support to schools. 

 This approach is working in tandem with the support that has been commissioned through the 
whole school approach grant. Upskilling teachers and partners to provide bespoke programmes to 
children and young people facing challenges on the following: family breakdown, transition, self-
harm, loss or bereavement. In addition, identified staff have undertaken an emotional coaching 
training programme to support their work with parents.  

 The authority has reaffirmed its commitment to developing the Positive Behaviour Support 
programme through the outreach approach with Greenfields. All schools now have staff trained in 
PBS and annual refresher systems in place.  Discussions have also been held as to the local 
authority becoming licenced through this system to improve long term sustainability of the 
approach.  The local authority’s guidance on Positive Behaviour Management has been reviewed.  

English as and Additional Language (EAL)/Gypsy Travellers (GT) 

 The team has continued to produce home learning packs of resources for EAL/GT pupils related to 
language acquisition and wellbeing; identified digitally excluded EAL/GT learners; sourced and 
purchased curriculum and wellbeing books for EAL/GT pupils; created and delivered paper-based 
resources and learning packs;  
o delivered sanitary products to Yr6 and secondary pupils. 

 Worked closely with schools to ensure that EAL/GT pupils were engaging with learning 
o   where they were not, carried out follow-up visits to offer support 

 Supported EAL/GT children and young people to complete the Children's Commissioners 
Coronavirus & Me survey 

 Termly EAL/GT Newsletter have been circulated to schools 

 Pre-recorded online bite size lessons have been produced and uploaded to the schools’ Hwb 
platform for them to access and support in their teaching. 

 During the summer Ty Dysgu Dowlais, including the EAL/GT Base, was fully refurbished. Between 
September and October, the Base gradually reopened to pupils, with full RA and safety measures in 
place.  Classes were then held on Mondays and Tuesdays for Secondary pupils in their year group 
bubbles, and GT pupils on Wednesdays.  Page 26

https://hwb.gov.wales/zones/keeping-safe-online/live-streaming-and-video-conferencing-safeguarding-principles-and-practice/


 As a result of keeping in touch processes and working practices of the Vulnerable Learners Panel 
stronger relationships have developed between families, especially those of the GT community and 
local authority staff.  

 The Base is proving to be a useful steppingstone to easing pupils back into school who might 
otherwise be absent due to Covid.  We are looking at how we could offer access to qualifications for 
those learners who are not currently attending school. 

 Plans in place for drop-in sessions for EAL/GT families. Plans are also underway to develop a lending 
library for bilingual books and teaching resources. 

 Purchase course materials for BTEC Sweet and LIBF Personal Finance qualifications. 

 Create a closed, secure social media group for GT families for faster transmission of information and 
sharing of good practice. 

 As Covid restrictions are further eased allowing mixed groups, sessions for Primary children will be 
re-introduced.  

Elective Home Education 

 The team has: 
o KIT with those families that have wished for this support.  
o Liaised with Careers Wales to support career pathway.  
o Distributed Wellbeing packs, the response to which has been positive.   
o Produced a leaflet confirming the education offer and promoted with families. 
o Been working on a guidance leaflet for pupils who have aspirations to sit GCSEs 
o Produced Guidance booklet on external exams produced and issued to families. 
o Published an EHE Newsletter highlighting the funding offer and signposting families towards 

useful websites and free resources. 

 As a result of keeping in touch processes and working practices of the Vulnerable Learners Panel 
stronger relationships have developed between these families and local authority staff.  A number of 
families have used the education offer grant to support the education of their child with further 
indications of their intention to draw on the funding prior to the end of the financial year.  

 There are further plans to  
o Establish a lending library of resources and an open morning at the EAL/GT class for EHE families. 
o Purchase course materials for BTEC Sweet and LIBF Personal Finance qualifications. 
o Purchase a number of licenses for Twinkl online resources 
o Offer a selection of resources for those families who have not taken up the offer of funding 
o Purchase curriculum materials for the lending library 
o Create a closed, secure social media group for faster transmission of information and sharing of 

good practice 
Special Tuition 

 Working with colleagues across the department and in schools has facilitated the production of a 
directory of alternative placements.   

 Colleagues delivering special tuition have had to adapt to new ways of working and have continued 
to provide tuition for those pupils being educated in this way. This provision has continued largely 
as 'normal', despite the lockdown. Groupings and timetables have been adjusted to try and utilise 
the Dowlais bungalow venue more, while adhering to social distance guidance. This is a setting 
where it is easier to  ensure that appropriate adjustments are in place to keep learners safe.  

 The Cefn Community Centre is currently closed, 3Gs has remained open for the 3 pupils that attend 
there. Pupils that are not able to attend Dowlais are having a 'blended learning' approach. This 
involves a mixture of Teams (where two staff are present), work placed on the learners' Hwb 
accounts, and traditional printed work that is delivered to, and collected from, homes (socially 
distant).  

 Contact is daily for all attending Dowlais and 3Gs, and nearly all others, with only an extremely 
small minority who are at home that occasionally don't attend their Teams/Hwb, etc. session. For 
these, the same strategies are employed as during 'normal' times for lower than desired 
attendance, and work with them, with families and EWO, etc. to support.  Page 27



 Extra activities have been arranged via Stephens and George, who have been working more closely 
with the local authority on literacy initiatives; a visit from Tee2Sugars, a graffiti artist that worked 
with learners on Christmas themed art murals for public display, Mike Church, a children's writer on 
designing and creating their own pieces of inspirational fiction.  

 Education delivery has been in place for all pupils. A weekly panel monitors the engagement of 
these pupils and identifies actions for improvement in wellbeing, engagement etc. The safety and 
welfare of all pupils has been closely monitored.  

 
GOVERNING BODIES 

 All Governors have access to Hwb and have been supported in the use of Microsoft Teams which 
has enabled the vast majority of governors to participate fully in remote meetings and fulfil their 
responsibilities. 

 In collaboration with the Central South Consortium Governors have been offered the mandatory 
training programme through on-line training and additional training opportunities by the way of 
webinars and specific on-line training sessions. 

 Chairs & Vice Chairs Briefing sessions continue to be held via.  Microsoft Teams and Chairs receive 
regular updates with regards to changes in guidance. 

 A RARS Secondary Governors Group has been established with the purpose of identifying areas 
where schools and governing bodies can collaborate to achieve the objectives of the RARS 
Strategy. 

 Specific activities that have taken place during the period September 2020 to February 2021 
include: 
o Wellbeing checks with Head teachers and Chairs of Governors. 
o Annual Meeting held for all governing bodies which included the election of chairs and vice chairs 

and the establishment of committees. 
o Budget monitoring and reporting, updating of MTFPs, preparation for closing of accounts 

2020/21 and commencing budget preparation for 2021/22. 
o Staff appointments including head teacher. 
o Finance, Standards, Redundancy and Disciplinary Meetings. 
o Risk Assessments agreed with governing bodies.  
 

MUSIC SERVICE 
The Music Service Peri team has worked to find new ways to provide continuity of service since March 
2020 and the following was offered to ALL schools on SLA in the first week of January 2021: 

 Online session for those pupils who usually have 1-1/small group tuition providing access to 
Instrumental and Vocal Music Lessons  

 For the schools who usually engage in WCET Music lessons with the Music Service, we are uploading 
new material into the ‘Charanga’ classrooms weekly for pupils to access anywhere/anytime;  

 ‘live’ remote Music lessons can be delivered as part of a school’s online learning programme,  

 Every Friday morning, each SLA school receives bespoke pre-recorded videos for individual learners 
and whole class music lessons.  

 Merthyr Tydfil Youth Music has met online weekly for rehearsals since September 2020 with music 
specifically arranged by staff to avoid any copyright issues whilst livestreaming and recording. 

 staff in PRU and FP are working face to face. All SLA schools were offered face to face music for 
vulnerable and critical key worker children. 

 We have a 25% uptake of all our individual/small group school lessons moving to online 1-1 lessons; 
many pupils/parents/carers struggled signing the AUP document so we are awaiting an electronic 
version from IT to make life simpler and increase the 1-1 online learners. 

 Fortnightly Teams Rock and Pop sessions 

 MENU: Music Education Needs Us is still very much a strong focus with the Music Service. Staff have 
audio and video recorded a St David’s Day contribution Page 28



 

BEHAVIOUR SUPPORT TEAM 

 Since the first lockdown in March 2020, the behaviour support team took a flexible approach to 
supporting our schools. The first month staff were involved daily in the delivery of free school 
meals through the borough.  

 Throughout the school holidays of 2020, the team leader volunteered to deliver PPE to all schools 
and this continued when the schools returned in September. 

 Although face to face meetings were not possible during lockdown, the team quickly moved to 
supporting schools through Teams meetings and by telephone offering advice and guidance to 
parents and pupils. Multi agency meetings also went ahead as planned via teams. 

 When schools were open for all pupils, we were restricted to visiting one school a day. 

 Since September 2020 64 pupils have been supported by the Behaviour Support Team. 

 The completion of action plans for each pupil that is shared with school, pupils and parents and 
reviewed after six weeks.  

 Weekly School Support Service meetings have continued via teams. 

 Class observations took place in school when open to all pupils. 

 Regular staff supervision and performance management have continued as normal. 

 HLTA continues with updating of Capita weekly. 

 MATRIX completed termly. 
 

EARLY YEARS 

 Management of teams continues to be carried out successfully through regular team meetings, 
supervision and task focussed meetings on Teams.  

 Staff wellbeing is a key focus as staff continue to manage increasing workloads whilst navigating 
through the personal challenges that Covid is posing for most people. 

 Weekly staff tracking form completed with all Early Years/ Flying Start staff flagging up Covid related 
absences;    

 Grant funding performance reports completed for; C-CAS, Families First/ CF Legacy, Summer 
Holiday scheme, Flying Start Welsh Government, Childcare and Play (CCG) and Childcare Offer 
Welsh Government.  

 Regular contact maintained with WG to consult and update on changes to policy and guidance.  

 Financial claims prepared with accountancy. 

 Ensuring all staff across the service have completed the Covid Workforce Risk Assessment;  

 Risk Assessments continue to be updated for ICC and Treharris  

 Virtual online training sourced for mandatory training for the sector to ensure continued compliance 
with CIW. 

 Wellbeing training delivered by Education Psychologists which focussed on staff, children and 
parents’ wellbeing.  

 WellComm training for schools delivered by Flying Start Language Lead Officer and FS SLT and 
implementation of WellComm in schools being supported by the early years team.  

 Lateral Flow testing programme, advice and support offered to the sector on the implementation of 
the scheme.  

Additional Learning Needs Early Years 

 The Enhanced support panels for Flying Start, Childcare Offer and Families First have continued to 
meet virtually;  

 The Early Years and Flying Start Education Psychologists are in contact with the childcare settings to 
offer support for ALN children to provide any strategies for support.   

 A Support Guide for parents of ALN children has been developed with tips and ideas for how to 
support children during Covid 19.  

 The FF Inclusion Officer is KIT with families of ALN children to offer advice and support.   

Page 29



 Transition information and TAC processes have continued virtually for ALN children who are 
transitioning to school in April. 

 Close liaison with the Education Inclusion department on ALNET issues and for ALN children attending 
Early Years.  

The Childcare Sector & Covid related capital and revenue funding  

 Since June 2020, the childcare sector has been open and available to all families;  

 Overall take up of childcare has decreased as families chose for children to remain at home due to 
Covid concerns, for some families, employment has changed and schools closing from Christmas has 
also impacted;  

 Sustainability of the sector is a concern so in response, WG issued Capital and revenue funding;  

 £60,000 available through the Covid capital fund and £162,307 available for revenue funding, a grants 
panel has been established to oversee that the strict criteria is met for all applications;    

 Support and advice continue to be provided to the sector on the implementation of the Protective 
Measures in Childcare Settings: Keep Childcare Safe guidance produced by WG;  

 Termly Childcare Sub-group meetings with the whole sector have been maintained during the 
pandemic using the TEAMS platform. 

The Early Language Development (ELD) Offer (also part of Families First) 

 The ELD team and Flying Start Speech and Language Therapist continue to work with all open cases, 
using video links and phone calls to encourage families to continue to support their child’s early 
language development. 

 20 Month WellComm assessments – conducted over the phone with parents. 

 Follow up interventions delivered over phone, teams, e mail and closed groups. 

 Daily bilingual communication with families using Facebook with ELD activities, as well as a number 
of longer campaigns such as the countdown to Christmas and Bookstart Cymru Big Welsh Nursery 
Rhyme event. 

 Closed groups – parents access in their own time and follow up keeping in touch – currently 82 
families actively engaging with these groups this term. 

 Keeping in Touch with families to include ELD support and signposting to other agencies and 
escalating any concerns as appropriate. 

 Monthly Early Language newsletters with hints, tips and ideas for language development.  

 Language resource packs distributed termly to families engaged on programmes, they include 
activities and resources that support ELD for babies and young children. 

 The ELD team and Flying Start Speech and Language Therapist continue to work with all open cases, 
using video links and phone calls. 

 SLT continues to roll out an alternative model of delivery to provide support for families identified, 
providing a toy/activity pack and written instructions to work on the child’s specific targets on a 
weekly basis from the SLT or CNN.  

 The increase in communicating online using social media platforms has been a real positive since the 
pandemic. 

Childcare Offer  

 The Childcare Offer was reinstated for new applications from 1 September 2020.  

 Take up of Childcare Offer was very low in the Autumn term as the majority of children attended full 
time Nursery.  

 Additional capacity has been built within the early years team using the CCO grant to progress with 
marketing of the Offer. 

Flying Start  

 All Flying Start Childcare settings re-opened from 1 September 2020, weekly attendance monitoring 
has been implemented to establish impact of Covid on attendance. 

 Average attendance across the programme is 68% compared to an average attendance pre-covid of 
85%. 

Page 30



 Children not attending provision are receiving regular keeping in touch contact with access to 
activities and resources for families to do at home. 

 Regular communication with parenting, health and Barnardo’s to ensure that these elements of the 
Programme are delivering in line with latest WG guidance.  

 The Flying Start childcare team has developed a blended opportunities in the early years good 
practice guide which offers advice on engaging with and supporting children and their families when 
they are not attending childcare.  

 Nursery applications – applications for FPN for Spring term are down on previous years, the team are 
working with all settings, families and other professionals to ensure any outstanding nursery 
applications have been submitted for April and September. 

Local Authority managed Flying Start Childcare settings  

 Managing all CIW notifications of change including moving from sessional care to full day-care 
(childcare hub)  

 Communicating with CIW via telephone and email 

 Facebook pages active for settings to communicate with their families, Facebook parent contract 
developed. 

 Induction, transition videos developed for new starters.  

 Transition meetings held for new families. 

 Introduced practices to comply with Covid guidance; Developing risk assessments for reopening of 
childcare, in line with WG advice: Protective measures in childcare settings: Keep Childcare Safe  

 Protocols in place for dealing with suspected and positive cases of Covid 19. 
 
YOUTH SERVICE 
Targeted Supported – referral through schools, Early Help Hub, Social Services 
Inspire to Work (Post 16) 

 Supporting young people with job search, job applications mock interviews and CV’s over the phone 
or via video conferencing. 

 Young people have been enrolled onto e-learning courses e.g. Food Safety, with support provided by 
a tutor. 

 Resources have been updated for delivery of new Agored Cymru PSE units.  

 Continue to support existing clients through KIT and telephone or online interventions if a young 
person is comfortable with this. 

 Will take new referrals if the young person is comfortable with phone or online interventions. 

 The roll on, roll off Employability Programme has been delivered to small groups of young people 
with a focus on completing a CV and undertaking certain on line qualifications such as ‘Safety in 
Catering’.  This will prepare young people to apply for the Kickstart programme. 

 A new PSD intervention is being piloted for young people who are furthest away from the labour 
market. 

Inspire to Achieve (pre-16) 

 Continue supporting existing clients through KIT and telephone or online interventions if a young 
person is comfortable with this. 

 Will take new referrals if the young person is comfortable with phone or online interventions. 

 Staff have had access to some young people via the school hubs and PRU. 

 Tutors have supported young people in year’s 10 and 11 to complete Agored Cymru Level One PSD 
qualifications. 

School Support Team 

 BTEC Level One PSD certificates have been claimed (prior to school closures).  Awaiting update from 
Pearon Edexcel on BTEC Level Two qualifications.  Preparation is underway for delivery in the new 
academic year. 

 Approval has been granted to delivery the BTEC Personal Growth and Wellbeing, which replaces the 
BTEC PSD. Page 31



 Successful BTEC Centre inspection took place on 6th January with good practice highlighted in the 
inspection report. 

 Hoping to reinstate face to face delivery of BTEC PSD and Work Skills in Afon Taf and Cyfarthfa when 
permitted. 

 All resources have been prepared and ready for delivery. 

 Group work interventions Homelessness and Mental Health are developed and ready for delivery.  
Offer will be made to schools once they re-open. 

Youth Support Team (key working) 

 Continue to support existing client through KIT and telephone or online interventions if a young 
person is comfortable with this. 

 Supported families to engage in the MTHA Fit & Fed programme by purchasing cooking equipment, 
food vouchers and small fitness equipment.  

 Supported the ‘Operation Play packs’ programme for February half term. 
 
Universal, Open Access Service, Local Authority & Commissioned Providers 
Street Based Team 

 Currently deploying for four shifts per week using intelligence from South Wales Police 
 
Open Access Youth Clubs (including commissioned providers (Treharris Boys & Girls Club, Georgetown 
Boys & Girls Club, Urdd/Menter Iaith, Dowlais Engine House, Gellideg Foundation, Twynrodyn Action 
Group, Merthyr Valley Homes (Gurnos), Willow’s Centre, (Troedyrhiw)) 

 Virtual Youth Club is being delivered at various times throughout the week to deliver a variety of 
activities, including quizzes, podcasts, competitions, open mic, keep fit, etc. 

 Weekly phone contact with vulnerable young people is taking place, discussing any concerns or issues 
that they may be experiencing. 

 Youth workers are available via Messenger on a rota basis to deal with queries and concerns. 

 Information and advice is updated and posted on youth clubs own social media sites. 

 Staff and young people have been involved in the delivery of activity packs, hygiene packs and food 
parcels to families and individuals in their communities. 

 Monthly Youth Service Partnership Forum meetings are taking place. 

 The Universal Youth Service and commissioned partners continue to undertake outreach work.  
Teams have partnered with organisations such as Barod, Cwm Taf Morgannwg Mind, Cardiff City 
Foundation.  

 Prior to lockdown in December, the local authority and commissioned partner teams participated 
in the 30 Days of Play scheme and delivered small outdoor group activities such as ‘Ride your Bike’ 
and ‘Geocaching’ and online activities such as ‘Decorate a Tree’ and ‘Cookery’. 

 Teams also recently supported the ‘Operation Play Packs’ programme for February half term.  

 As a result of the Tier 4 Lockdown in December work has continued online with workshops being 
delivered in partnership with the Street Based Youth Service team, Treharris BGC and the Calon 
Las (MVH) Youth Project, for example. 

 
Merthyr Tydfil Borough Wide Youth Forum (MTBWYF) 

 Regular meetings, via video conferencing, are held with members of the Youth Forum to discuss 
current and future projects. 

 The Forum has contributed to recent discussions on the effectiveness of current on-line learning 
arrangements with schools and the new RARS Strategy. 

 The Forum has completed a recycling competition, been involved in the development of a reading 
festival and are producing a documentary on the local impact of Covid-19, with involvement of the 
First Minister. 

 The Covid-19 documentary film on how Covid-19 has affected the community, including an interview 
with the First Minister, is in the final stages of being edited. Page 32



 ‘Make your Mark’ national campaign with Merthyr having the highest turnout of young people voting 
in Wales at 12.8%. 

 Working in partnership with the Police and Crime Commissioner to set-up young voices conversation 
with young people across the Youth Forum. 

 Votes @ 16 - it was agreed for the young people to produce a ‘project vote’ video for the election 
campaign, script to be agreed with Corporate Communications and young people are taking part in 
a mock election event on 26th February with the Senedd. 

 
NEET’s Team 

 School review meetings take place on a monthly basis via MS Teams; a key focus is highlighting 
those young people who are high risk NEET and the transition planning of year 11 leavers. Good 
attendance from school staff and partners and monthly updates submitted. 

 Early Identification Toolkit Review - a scoping exercise has taken place and a task and finish group 
set-up for 3rd March. 

 Undertaking a two-year analysis of the ‘presenting needs’ of young people categorised as ‘red’ in 
order to gain a more holistic picture of the needs of young people. 

 Post 16 Lead worker practitioner meetings have taken place weekly since the beginning of 
September to support transition and the destination survey; this has more recently reverted to 
monthly meetings. 
 

ADULT COMMUNITY LEARNING 

 Adult Education Tutors have maintained a Keeping in Touch (KIT) approach with learners using a 
variety of communication methods - phones, text, emailing and online tools such as Microsoft Teams.  
Wherever possible, course delivery has been maintained digitally, with course work shared via 
electronic means and for learners without access the use of postal services, via workbooks and tasks. 

 All Adult Education Tutors are delivering our core courses via online platforms (specifically Microsoft 
Teams). 

 Where learners are unable to join courses online, tutors are facilitating telephone tutorials and are 
distributing “hard copy” work to individuals via the post. 

 We have expanded our learning offer to reflect the pandemic environment – introducing two new 
courses:  Using Social Media to be a Digital Citizen and Using the Internet and Email.  Both focus on 
“keeping in touch” and being able to access services despite the ongoing lockdown. 

 We have introduced Well Being Fridays to existing and new learners.  Linked to the Five Ways to Well-
Being – learners benefit from weekly sessions exploring mental health issues but more importantly 
sharing strategies and tools to improve well-being. 

 Aim to expand this to include more practical courses (e.g. Art, Cookery, Jewellery Making) with the 
continued aim to promote well-being in the context of the pandemic. 

 We are working with the peripatetic music department to pilot a Rock & Pop School (again linked to 
the Well-Being agenda). 

 The Family Programmes course has been updated to reflect the challenges around learner attendance 
(e.g. due to home-schooling, home working responsibilities).  Learners can now benefit from “Help 
your child with Reading” or “Help your Child with Maths” courses.   

 Family Programmes has been extended to Early Years settings – with a current pilot running – “Time 
2 Talk”. 

 Benefited from funding via the Digital 2030 grant – eventual aim to roll out a “lending library” for 
learners most in need of a digital device or internet connectivity. 

 Working with colleagues at RCT and Bridgend ACL’s – having received funding to address staff and 
learner well-being.  The ACE Co-ordinator is attending a Teaching Pedagogy course – with the aim of 
sharing this with all tutors.   

 The same funding stream has produced a Well Being Champions course – which equips staff with the 
appropriate skills to support and signpost learners. 

Page 33



 Continued work on the ESTYN Post Inspection Action Plan (specific work carried out on Internal 
Quality Assurance, Welsh Language Standards, Digital Learning Approaches).   

 Review of marketing strategy to address learner engagement challenges. 
Parenting Team  

 The Delivery team continues to focus on offering a parenting intervention that is bespoke to the 
parents needs and situation. 

 In line with the corporate approach, staff are tracking vulnerable children/young people and 
families, completing weekly Keeping in Touch (KIT) contacts and allocated new participants from 
the weekly Vulnerable Families meeting. 

 Staff continue to work with all open cases, so all plans are up to date and recorded. This work 
includes signposting, referrals to other agencies, one to ones, completion of CAF’s reviews etc. 

 Development of remote working and new interventions is on-going and developing a hints and 
tips guide for parent to use.    

 Staff are regularly linking with other agencies and specialist services via telephone, email and 
developing the use of Teams.  

 Regular links are maintained along with paperwork and reporting with the Flying Start and 
Families First coordinators. 

 The service is engaging with social media platforms ie Flying Start Facebook page and developing a 
specific Facebook page for the Parenting Programme. 

 Using WG grant, the Parents as Partners (PAP) programme has been developed and implemented. 
Strengths based approach focused on utilising staff previously trained in PAP, and focused on 
parental conflict due to COVID, in partnership with Social Services, Safer Merthyr Tydfil and 
Exchange. The grant is also focused on developing parental resources to tackle parental conflict,  a 
new and innovative approach. 

 Staff member is attending training as part of Adult Education offer - a train the train approach to 
using online system- which will support online course delivery.  

 the engagement team continue to operate as a pre programme service where they receive 
referrals and make the initial contact with families.  

 The Engagement Workers continue to focus on reaching out to communities who need support via 
social media and keeping partnerships operating where possible. 

Play  

 PSA steering group online meetings taking place.  

 Roll out of the Cwm Taf Morgannwg and Play Wales pilot in Merthyr aimed at reducing childhood 
obesity and increase the value of outdoor play.  The pilot focused on working community and schools 
to develop the use of schools’ grounds after school hours.  Four schools are engaged and developing 
a street closure approach – three community partners engaged. Both developments have been 
awarded SEED funding for play resources using the WG Play Grant.  

 Completion of a commissioned research project into the needs of vulnerable groups, report and 
action plan.   

 The coordination of the WG Play grant for revenue and capital via grant panel approach £58,148 has 
been awarded to increase play opportunities. 

 Due to Covid restrictions 800 play packs delivered to the most vulnerable children across the 
Borough.  Play Providers have been invited to submit a proposal for play ideas for Easter.  

 Roll out of online workshops with play providers in the area, with the view to develop a centralised 
database of play providers complete. 

Community Zone  

 Construction work on the IAA and community cafe is near completion, with snagging, training on the 
use of café equipment and formal handover to be complete.  

 Community Zone steering group’s operational using online means. 

Page 34



 Development work in regard to an environmental project to improve the area around the hub is 
ongoing. With key stakeholder’s commitment in place and links to the development of a 
Neighbourhood Network being made. 

 Regular contact is made with the third sector commissioned service (VAMT), and the Community 
Development officer who has an agreed work plan in place to maintain community contacts and links 
via the dedicated Facebook page. 

 Daily community Facebook updates include details on where to get support, how to keep your 
children active, support for home schooling, vital details about the Foodbank distribution and 
tenancy and universal credit support and online services to tackle loneliness and isolation.  

 A community online consultation survey has been completed, focused on community needs – results 
are being analysed. 

 
OTHER FAMILIES FIRST ACTIVITIES 
Integrated Counselling  

 Extra capacity secured through WG grant and delivered by third sector partner reducing waiting lists. 
 
CAPITAL PROJECTS 
Following the successful completion of many capital programme and maintenance projects during the 
Summer Term 2020, planning, development and delivery of major capital and maintenance projects has 
continued throughout the Autumn Term and Spring Terms to date.  
Schools 

 Major Capital projects Sep 20 - Mar 21 
o YYG New Build (Band A) 
o Trelewis additional classroom works 

o Ysgol Santes Tudful additional classroom completion and ongoing roof repairs 

 Scoping, feasibility and design works have been ongoing 
o 3-16 VA school (Band B) including public and stakeholder consultation regarding site selection 

and the awarding of the phase 1 contract for design development  
o Pen Y Dre major refurbishment (Band B) including commencing tender process for phase 1 

contract   
o Caedraw nursery extension 
o Cyfarthfa Park Primary nursery extension / big bocs bwyd 
o Greenfield Special School additional classroom 
o Ysgol Rhyd Y Grug internal reconfiguration  
o Welsh Medium seedling school  

  Various capital maintenance projects have also been ongoing 
Early Years 

 Continue to Progress 2020/21 Childcare Offer capital programme with Property Services including 
architect plans, capital agreements, lease agreements and liaising with providers and schools 

 Prioritising Flying Start Capital projects that can be completed in 2020/21 

 Small grants scheme (Early Years) - obtaining an update from providers that have been awarded 
funding.  Held a virtual panel meeting to discuss the applications made for funding. 

 

CAPITA ONE 

 There has been on going technical maintenance support provided by Capita including updates to the 
cloud infrastructure, and upgrades and fixes to the Capita One application. These have been 
undertaken in timely manner and the Cloud support team are responsive to issues identified. 

 Specific issues impacting the reliability of the system required a fix across the national cloud 
infrastructure and this was resolved in the first half of the Autumn Term. 

 Ongoing issues with the B2B module (the transfer of information between school systems and the 
local authority) have been resolved. 

Page 35



 The roll out of the SEND portal to schools and Educational Psychologists (EP) took place during the 
Autumn Term. An online referral system now in place for schools to request EP involvement and for 
information to be fed back to schools. Training delivered to schools and local authority staff on the 
use of the system, support documentation has also been developed. 

 Additional development work has been undertaken including creating involvement records for work 
undertaken with Gypsy Travellers and EAL pupils and recording and reporting of exclusions which has 
removed the need for the information to be recorded in a separate spreadsheet. 

 A Capita One user group has been established to discuss support needs and a user perception survey 
is currently under development. 

 There has been growth approved from April 2021 for additional staffing resources to support the 
ongoing development of Capita One as part of an overall strategy to develop a corporate data team 
across the local authority.  

 
SCHOOLS FORUM 

 During the Autumn Term and into the Spring Term work has been undertaken with the Schools Forum 
via Teams meetings to complete the strategic work programme in line with timescales including;  

 Concluding and consulting on the Formula Funding review with implementation from April 21 
incorporating three-year transitional arrangements. 

 Working in collaboration with local authority Energy Officer and Schools Forum to approve funding 
model using school budgets for the delivery of REfit Cymru energy projects across schools as part of 
the overall corporate scheme to address carbon management and sustainability targets. Projects to 
be implemented. 

 Working in collaboration with Schools SIMS ICT Lead officer and Schools Forum to approve the 
sustainability funding model using a 50/50 match funding model between schools and the local 
authority for Waves 1-3 of the ICT Hwb Grant project. 

 Working in collaboration with Headteachers, Service leads and Schools Forum to review, amend and 
approve all SLAs delivered by local authority services to schools for the three-year cycle 2021-2024 

 
SCHOOLS FINANCES & FINANCIAL ADMIN 

 Paying of school invoices and processing of claims for Covid staff absences in schools. 

 Scrutinising, challenging and supporting claims via the Hardship grant for all other relevant costs 
including liaison with WG to successfully challenge disallowed claims in order to maximise cost 
recovery to the local authority and schools.  

 Supported and scrutinised/challenged schools planned licensed deficit applications and financial 
business cases for staff voluntary and compulsory redundancy and premature retirement application 
processes. 

 
 

Page 36



Appendix 2 

Attendance Summary – January 2021 

2019/20 Academic year 

Attendance for the 2019/20 is reported to the end of February due to the closure of schools in 

March 2020. Therefore, attendance is compared with the same period during the previous academic 

year. Primary school attendance is 0.17 percentage points lower in 2019/20 than in the comparable 

period in 2018/19. Secondary attendance is 0.78 percentage points higher in 2019/20 than in the 

comparable period in 2018/19. National comparisons are not available. 

 Sept to Feb 2019/20 Sept to Feb 2018/19 Difference 

Primary schools 94.33 94.51 -0.17 

Secondary schools 93.32 92.32 0.78 

 

Rates of persistent absentees in February 2020 were 2.47% across primary schools and 4.18% across 

secondary schools. Compared with 1.8% and 4.6% respectively nationally in 2018/19. 

2020/21 Academic year 

Schools opened to all pupils on the 14th September, prior to this date schools were operating a 

phased return. The information for the autumn term is reported from the 14th September. 

 14th Sept 20 to Dec 20  Sept 19 to Dec 19 Difference 

Primary schools 89.49 94.15 -4.66 

Secondary schools 86.87 93.26 -6.39 

 

Attendance by month 

Attendance codes changed halfway through the autumn term with new Covid-19 codes being 

introduced after October half term to record covid-19 illness and covid-19 individual isolation. After 

half term both individual and class isolations were recorded as attendance not required therefore 

these absences were excluded from attendance calculations. The information below shows that 

attendance increased in November, however this may not accurately reflect the actual number of 

pupils in school, as the revised recording after half term will have inflated attendance after this 

point. 

Month Primary Secondary 

September 88.64 85.51 

October 90.56 85.21 

November 91.98 89.74 

December 83.53 80.24 

 

Persistent absentee rates 

 Dec 20  Dec 19 Difference 

Primary schools 15.35 3.29 +12.06 

Secondary schools 22.92 5.33 +17.59 

 

In December there were 62 pupils on school roll who had not attended school during the autumn 

term. 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 
Report Author: Sue Walker, Chief Officer (Learning)  
 

OVERVIEW 
1. A detailed summary of attainment data for schools, provided in Appendix A, reiterates the issue 

that academic achievement across the County Borough has, for too long, been variable with too 
many young people not achieving their academic potential.   

 
2. Whilst young people who are eligible for free school meals do as well as other children eligible for 

free school meals across Wales, the same cannot be said for those young people who do not receive 
free school meals.  The gap between other similar areas in Wales has widened over recent years.  
There continues to be a marked lack of challenge, development and aspiration for the majority of 
learners who are non-FSM.  This means over 75% of the school population have been let down by 
the system. 

 
3. The emphasis on care and engagement in schools – which is a significant strength – should not 

eclipse or limit the challenge and stretch in learning that young people need.  There must be a focus 
on improving the attainment levels for all pupils. 

 
4. There has not been the acceptance, or the drive from key partners and stakeholders, that 

fundamental change is required to achieve the highest possible outcomes for each young person 
and to ensure that this change is sustainable.  This fundamental change must be underpinned by 
the recognition that the success of our young people is everyone’s responsibility and that by 
working in partnership we can achieve far more for our future generations. 

 
5. The pandemic has, and will, further hit economy hard but ensuring that each young person leaves 

statutory education with the best possible academic profile is a pre-requisite for sustainable future 
growth and security. 

 
6. Over the last ten years education performance across the County Borough has been a cause for 

concern. 
 
7. In 2012 the authority was placed in Special Measures following an inspection by Estyn.  It was 

removed from this position in 2016 having been judged to have improved sufficiently during the 
intervening period.  However, since then, standards at the end of Key Stage 4 have declined. 

 
8. Of the four secondary schools, only one now performs consistently above the expected outcomes 

for schools within similar contexts.  Challenging questions must be asked about the sustainable 
impact of the changes made during that time. 

 
9. By 2016, three out of the four secondary schools had received Schools Challenge Cymru money.  

This, together with significant investment from the local authority, in terms of staff support and 
time-limited, targeted, basic skills financial support, did impact positively on standards at the time.  
However, as that support was withdrawn it has become evident that more fundamental changes 
were needed to make sustainable improvement. 

 
10. Inspection outcomes since 2017 have been in the main positive with no school placed in a reported 

category and aspects of wellbeing and care, support and guidance being judged highly.  However, in 
the primary schools inspected, teaching and learning was judged to be the weakest area across the 
board.  This is an area that needs to be addressed if the ambition of this plan is to be realised. 

 
Page 39



11. There have been improvements in attendance over the past three years but compared to other 
local authorities, attendance for both primary and secondary schools is the lowest, or close to the 
lowest, with persistent absenteeism a significant area of challenge. 

 
12. Whilst figures for permanent exclusions are the lowest in the region, the number of fixed-term 

short exclusions is the highest and the percentage of pupils moved in Year 10 to Education Other 
Than At School (EOTAS) is the highest in Wales. 

 
13. Since the pandemic started, the number of pupils eligible for free school meals has risen by 18.5% 

(from 2026 pupils to 2401).  As of the end of October 2020 the percentage of pupils eligible for free 
school meals within the total school population now stands at 27% – the long-term impact of this is 
yet unknown and it may not be known for some years. 

 
14. The Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) figures for Merthyr Tydfil remain relatively 

positive.  Figures as at 31st October show that 14 young people on the mainstream PLASC were not 
engaged in EET.  This equates to 2.75% and is higher than the 2019 figure of 2.05% (11 young 
people). However, 8 young people on the EOTAS PLASC were not engaged in EET which gives a total 
NEET figure of 3.9% (22 young people) and is lower than the 2019 figure of 4.3% (25 young people).  
A concern that must be addressed is, that of the 22 young people currently presenting as NEET, 9 
were not known to the NEET team and have been classed as GREEN on the vulnerability profile.  
This figure is significantly higher than in previous years. 

 
15. Within schools across the County Borough there has been and still is, rightly, a strong focus on 

nurturing and supporting pupils.  The emphasis on care and engagement in schools – which is a 
significant strength – should not eclipse or limit the challenge and stretch in learning that young 
people need.  There must be a focus on improving the attainment levels for all pupils. 

 
16. Within KS4 there is too high a prevalence of learners being placed on special tuition due to 

behavioural issues and whilst the outcomes for these pupils have improved, challenge must be 
made over the numbers of pupils being placed on this path. 

 
17. There is no clear transition pathway from primary to secondary and there is still an element of 

mistrust between standards identified at the end of KS2 as learners move into KS3. 
 
18. Schools have not been working well enough together in partnership.  This is changing but needs to 

be further developed.  The schools’ collective response during the pandemic has demonstrated a 
much stronger cohesion and common enterprise.  This however must also be replicated by local 
authority staff and other partners.  Actions cannot be ‘done to’ schools, there needs to be a 
collaborative approach to both identifying the problems and securing solutions.  The work on the 
recent staff Wellbeing Charter and the working party securing the ambitions of the Raising 
Aspirations, Raising Standards (RARS) strategy demonstrate how much more can be achieved when 
engaging with a range of partners – the ‘buy-in’ to the solution is far greater. 

 
19. The focus within the support plan from the Central South Consortium over the next three years is 

on working collaboratively as clusters from primary through to secondary.  There is a need for not 
only schools to work together but also the Improvement Partners and Strategic Partners from the 
primary and secondary sectors so that the expectations for attainment are clear to all.  The work of 
these must dovetail in the work of local authority service areas so that there is a common purpose 
to improvement. 

 

Page 40



20. The role of school Governors in the standards agenda needs to be further developed.  There must 
be an acceptance from all Governors of the need to raise standards for all learners and Governors 
must be supported in their understanding of how they can challenge school leaders to demonstrate 
progress. 

 
21. There has been too much reliance on actions and process in relation to support from partners 

including the Central South Consortium and from service areas within the local authority and not 
enough focus on impact on impact. Support has tended to be generic and not focussed on specific 
areas for development.   

 
22. There is much to be done on challenging the ‘so what’ – action without impact will not achieve the 

ambitious outcomes of the RARS strategy and will continue the cycle of underachievement for the 
young people of the County Borough. 

 
23. It must be recognised however that the challenges of the pandemic have required a strongly 

collaborative and more collective approach.  There is renewed awareness, in MTCBC and more 

widely, of the key importance of education and schooling in all young people’s lives.  The resilience, 

dedication and professionalism of all staff in schools signals strong potential to move forward as we 

eventually emerge from the pandemic in the new year.  

 
 
  

Page 41



Appendix A 
IMPACT OF CORONAVIRUS PANDEMIC 
The Coronavirus pandemic has had a number of implications for the information presented below: 

 Cancellation of the normal examination period has resulted in: 
o Welsh Government deciding not to calculate or publish performance measures for 

2019/20 or 2020/21, for the Year 11 cohort. 
o Results are based on the best of either the centre assessed grade, or the standardised 

grade calculated by the WJEC. 

 Cancellation of teacher assessment collections at Foundation Phase, Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 3, 
means that we have no information to report. 

 Cancellation of Welsh national tests data collection means that we have no information to 
report. 

 Cancellation of attendance data collections means that information reported below is based on 
attendance from September 2019 to February 2020 and is compared with the LA information for 
the same period in the previous academic year.  No national comparative information is 
available. 

 Exclusions information is reported for the period September 2019 to February 2020 and is 
compared with the local authority information for the same period in the previous academic 
year. 

 
KEY PERFORMANCE MEASURES 
Key Stage 4 2019/20  
(definitions and changes to performance measures are detailed in annex A) 

 The average Literacy point score increased and is closer to the national average from 2018/19. 
The average is now towards the higher end of a D range rather than at the lower end. 

 The average Numeracy point score increased and is above the national average from 2018/19. 
The average is now in the D range rather than in the E range. 

 The average Science point increased and is above the national average from 2018/19. The 
average is now in the D range rather than in the E range.   

 The average Skills Challenge Certificate point score increased and is now in the D range rather 
than in the E range.  

 The average Capped 9 points score (interim measure version) increased and is above the 
national average from 2018/19.  

 Girls outperformed boys in each of these five indicators, and pupils who are eligible for Free 
School Meals had a lower average score than those who were not eligible. 

 ALPS information shows there has been an improvement in value added outcomes since last year 
in the majority of subjects.  However, in English Language and Mathematics pupils are making 
less than expected progress in three out of four schools.  

 
KEY STAGE 4 2018/19  

 The average Literacy point score is 34.7 whilst the national score is 39.0.  

 The average Numeracy point score is 32.4 with the national numeracy score being 37.1.  

 The average Science point score is 32.7 with the national science score being 36.8.  

 The average Skills Challenge Certificate point score is 30.8 with the national score being 36.4.  

 The average Capped 9 points score (interim measure version) in the local authority is 313.4 with 
the national score being 353.8.  

 Girls outperformed boys in each of these five indicators, and pupils who are eligible for Free 
School Meals had a lower average score than those who were not eligible, which is the same 
pattern as seen nationally. 

Page 42



 Performance of boys in the local authority is lower than the national average for boys, with a 
similar pattern evident for girls.  However, the gap in performance between girls in the local 
authority and Wales is smaller than that seen for boys. 

 The performance of pupils who are eligible for free school meals in the local authority is higher 
than the national performance in both average Literacy points and average Science points. 
However, the local authority performance is below the national averages for all other measures 
for pupils who are eligible for free school meals pupils and for all measures for pupils not eligible 
for free school meals.  

 
GRADE DISTRIBUTION INFORMATION (PROVISIONAL DATA) 2019-20 
Welsh Government have published grade distribution information instead of performance measures. 
These grade distributions allow the results to be interrogated at a finer level and show results at both 
upper and lower ability ranges.  Comparing this information with the grade distribution for Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC shows: 

 The percentage of pupils achieving grades A*-A and A*-C across all subjects is lower than the 
national average 

 The percentage of pupils achieving grades A*-A and A*-C in Literacy qualifications is lower than 
the national average 

 The percentage of pupils achieving grades A*-A in Numeracy qualifications is lower than the 
national average, however the percentage of pupils achieving grades A*-C is at the national 
average. 

 The percentage of pupils achieving grades A*-A and A*-C in Science qualifications is lower than 
the national average. 

 The gender difference across all subjects is lower than the national average for the higher A*-A 
grades and in line with the national average for grades A*-C.  

 The difference between pupils entitled for free school meals and those not entitled across all 
subjects is lower than the national average for the higher A*-A grades and in line with the 
national average for grades A*-C.  

 The difference between pupils with SEN provision and without SEN provision achieving grades 
A*-A and A*-C across all subjects is lower than the national average. 

 
Further information can be found in Annex B. 
 
ATTENDANCE  
2019/2020  
Attendance information is reported for the period from September 2019 to February 2020. 

 Attendance across primary schools is 0.17% lower than in the equivalent period in the previous 
academic year. 

 Attendance at secondary schools is 0.78% higher than the equivalent period in the previous 
academic year. 

2020/2021 
Attendance information for this academic year has been significantly impacted by the Coronavirus 
pandemic.  However, due to COVID 19 codes not being implemented until October half term, it is 
difficult to distinguish between COVID 19 related absence and general absence. 

 Attendance across primary schools until the end of October is 87.9% which is 6.8 percentage 
points lower than the equivalent period in the 2019/20 academic year. 

 Attendance across secondary schools until the end of October is 85.6% which is 8.2 percentage 
points lower than the equivalent period in the 2019/20 academic year. 

 

Page 43



EXCLUSIONS 
2019/2020 
Exclusion information is reported for the period from September 2019 to March 2020. 

 There is a reduction in both the number of exclusions and the days lost due to exclusion from 
primary schools when compared to the equivalent period in the previous academic year. 

 There is an increase in both the number of exclusions and the days lost to exclusion from 
secondary schools when compared to the equivalent period in the previous academic year. 

2020/2021 

 There has been a reduction in both the number of exclusions and the days lost due to exclusion 
from primary schools when compared to the equivalent period in the previous academic year. 

 There has been an increase in both the number of exclusions and the days lost to exclusion from 
secondary schools when compared to the equivalent period in the previous academic year. 

 
  

Page 44



Annex A – KS4 performance measures definitions and changes from 2018/19  
 
Performance measures for Year 11 
New performance measures were introduced in 2018/19.  The measures are now based on point scores 
and converts each grade achieved into a point score (see Definitions).  The measures are:  

 Capped 9 points score (interim measure version, see below)  
 Literacy measure: the best qualification a pupil has achieved in (first Language Welsh or English) 

Language or Literature GCSE. 
 Numeracy measure: the best qualification from Mathematics or Mathematics - Numeracy GCSEs. 
 Science measure: takes the best single qualification in a Science GCSE (where a double GCSE is 

taken the higher grade will be counted).  
 Skills Challenge Certificate: part of the Welsh Baccalaureate that can be taken at Foundation or 

National Level. 
 
For further information regarding the introduction of these new measures please see the Interim Key 
Stage 4 School Performance Arrangements: Measures and Analyses Guidance 
 
Multiple entry changes for Year 11 
Prior to 2018/19, the best result for each Year 11 pupil in each subject was used for performance 
measures. From 2018/19, the first entry in each subject is used instead, regardless of whether any resits 
have resulted in a higher grade. This will affect comparability of the data with previous years. Please see 
page 8 which gives an indication of the impact of this change. 
 
Capped 9 points score (interim measure version)  
The Capped 9 measure has been changed since last year by reducing the number of subject specific 
requirements. The measure still includes the best nine GCSEs or equivalent volume of qualifications, but 
now only three of the nine slots cover specific GCSE subjects, down from five in previous years. These 
specific subjects are English or Welsh First Language or Literature, Mathematics or Numeracy and a 
Science.  
The Capped 9 points score is one of the Well-being of Future Generations (WFG) Headline Indicators. 
Due to these changes to the Capped 9 points score (interim measure version) comparisons to previous 
Capped 9 scores should be avoided. A breakdown of this Capped 9 score (interim measure version) and 
an explanation of the method used to calculate this measure is available in this guidance document. 
As a guide, an A* grade at GCSE is worth 58 points, an A grade is worth 52 points, a C grade is worth 40 
points and so on. See Definitions for a full breakdown of points by grade. 
 
Skills challenge certificate measure  
The Skills Challenge Certificate (SCC) is a key part of Welsh Baccalaureate, available to learners at 
Foundation Level 1 or National Level 2. National Level 2 is graded A-C and is converted into the same 
point scores as the subject measures, with an A as 52 and C as 40. The Foundation Level 1 is graded as 
Pass* and Pass, converted into a point score of 31 and 22. This means caution should be taken when 
comparing this measure to the three subject performance measures. 

Page 45

https://gov.wales/interim-key-stage-4-school-performance-arrangements
https://gov.wales/interim-key-stage-4-school-performance-arrangements
https://gov.wales/capped-9-points-score-interim


 
Key Stage 4 Key Indicator Changes 
 
 

 
  

P
age 46



Annex B – Key Stage 4 Grade Distributions 
 

All Pupils 
 

 
 
 

 
 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

A*-A A*-C A*-G

GCSE results awarded in range - all subjects

MTCBC Wales

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

A*-A A*-C A*-G

GCSE results awarded in range - Literacy

MTCBC Wales

Page 47



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

A*-A A*-C A*-G

GCSE results awarded in range - Numeracy

MTCBC Wales

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

A*-A A*-C A*-G

GCSE results awarded in range - Science

MTCBC Wales

Page 48



Groups of pupils 
 

 
 
 
 

 

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

A*-A A*-C A*-G

GCSE results awarded in range - all subjects - Gender

MTCBC - Difference Wales - Difference

-30

-25

-20

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

A*-A A*-C A*-G

GCSE results awarded in range - all subjects - eFSM

MTCBC - Difference Wales - Difference

Page 49



 
 
 

-40

-35

-30

-25

-20

-15

-10

-5

0

5

10

A*-A A*-C A*-G

GCSE results awarded in range - all subjects - SEN

MTCBC - Difference Wales - Difference

Page 50



Appendix 3b 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Year 11 Transition 2020/21 
 
The percentage of learners progressing from the Merthyr Tydfil schools has remained the same as 2019 entry with 
83% progressing. 
 
Enrolment into The College Merthyr Tydfil  
Table 1 overleaf provides a detailed breakdown of the numbers progressing into the college by each school and 
level of study.  
The table illustrates that:  

 The number of learners progressing from the Merthyr Tydfil schools has increased slightly from 460 in 2019 to 
467 in 2020.  

 120 learners progressing from the Merthyr Tydfil schools have enrolled on A level programmes (115 learners in 
2019) 

 157 learners have enrolled on a level 3 vocational programme (34%) in comparison to 128 learners in 2019 
(28%) 

 71 learners (have enrolled on a level 2 programme (15%) in comparison to 82 learners in 2019. (18%) 

 The number of learners that have enrolled on level 1 programmes has decreased slightly to 117 (25%) learners 
from 120 learners (26%) in 2019.  

 
Table 2 overleaf provides an overview of the pathways of the learners that have not progressed into the college. 
Working with the local authority and Careers Wales, we have been able to identify that: 

 4 learners have enrolled on lower level engagement programmes with the Military Preparation College or 
People’s Plus  

 We have seen lower numbers of MAT learners progressing on to study at Cardiff Sixth Form Academy from 
Cyfarthfa High School  

 We have, however, seen higher numbers of learners progressing onto vocational programmes at other 
providers for courses that we do not offer, including Hospitality and Catering, Plumbing and Electrical 
Engineering.  

Page 51



Table 1: Progression from the Merthyr Tydfil schools  

 
 

 
 

P
age 52



Moving forwards  
 
The college has been working in partnership with Heads of Year 11 at each school to determine the most effective 
way of being able to take forward school transition for this academic year. We understand that this year is going to 
be challenging and difficult so we will work with each school to take forward activities and events to suit that 
school.  
 
We held our first Open Event on Tuesday 10th November and we are now looking to take forward a range of 
additional activities, virtual subject talks, live Q and A sessions and school specific talks as follows:  
 

Date Event  School/college  

Wednesday 18th December, 4-
5pm  

Engineering subject talk  Virtual College event via 
Teams  

Monday 23rd November, 4-5pm  Engineering subject talk Virtual College event via 
Teams 

Tuesday 1st December, 4-5pm  Engineering subject talk Virtual College event via 
Teams 

Wednesday 2nd December, 6-
6.30pm  

Sports Coaching and Fitness live Question and 
Answer session  

Virtual College event via 
Teams 

Wednesday 2nd December, 
6.30pm-7pm 

Public Services live Question and Answer session Virtual College event via 
Teams 

Tuesday 8th December, 
12.30pm -3.00pm  

Year 11 Talk and Application Session at Bishop 
Hedley Catholic High School  

Bishop Hedley High 
School  

Wednesday 9th December, 
5.30pm – 6.30pm  

Engineering subject talk Virtual College event via 
Teams 

Wednesday 16th December, 3-
4pm  

Engineering subject talk Virtual College event via 
Teams 

 

Wednesday 16th December, 8.30am – 
4pm  

Year 10 and year 11 talks at Afon Taf PSE 
Day  

Afon Taf High School  

Friday 15th January –  Virtual career pathway event Virtual College 
event  

Monday 18th January 2021  Virtual Open Event  Virtual College 
event  

 
In addition to the above, we are working with the Heads of Year 11 to prepare subject videos and presentations 
that can then be down to pupils during that particular subject lesson or during PSE lessons etc.

Page 53



Overview of A level results achieved by the college: 

 
A2 Level Attainment 
In 2019/20, 100% of A’ level learners at the college achieved grades A*-E (exceeding the Welsh Average of 99.9%), 
91% earned A*-C grades, a substantial rise of 15% in comparison to the 2019 A*-C pass rate. 41% of learners 
achieved A*A grades ( an increase of 18% on the A*A grades is 2019.) This is a clear demonstration of the year on 
year improvement in A level delivery and achievement.  Whilst the A2 results for 2019/20 were awarded on the 
basis of calculated grades, a robust quality process ensured a strong evidence base was available to support these 
judgements. 
 
AS Level Attainment 
The college achieved a 98% AS pass rate, a 5% increase on 2019. There was a 6% increase in the number of A grades 
and a 13% increase in the A-C grade pass rate from 2019.  
 
A Level Success Rate 

A level success rate: 4 year trend 
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

SR NC SR NC SR NA SR NA 

82% 84% 87% 86% 91% N/A 96% N/A 

 
It is evident from the table above that the rate at which A level learners successfully complete their qualifications 
has continued to improve over a sustained period of time.  
 
Consistent Performance Measures 
In June 2019 DFES confirmed that they would be establishing a new set of consistent performance measures for FE 
colleges and school sixth forms. 
 

General Education Programmes which includes AS and A2 learners are measured as follows: 

 Completion Rate: % of learners who completed: AS Levels, A2 Levels and the full two-year programme  

 Retention: % of learners who progressed from AS to A2  

 Achievement: % of learners achieving 3 or more A levels at grades A*-A, A*-C and A*-E 
 
In 2019/20 97% of AS and A2 level learners completed their qualifications. 80% of learners studying AS level 
qualifications progressed onto A2 level study.   
In 2019/20, 96% of A2 level learners at the college achieved 3 or more A levels at grades A*-E. This compares very 
favourably to the Welsh Average of 89% in 2018/19.  
Appendix 1 provides an overview of AS and A2 level outcomes by course over the past 3 years. 
 

Value Added: 
The College achieved an A level Quality Indicator score of 1 (compared to a QI score of 2 in 2018/19. This places the 
college in the top 10% of the ALPS cohort nationally. 90% of A level grades achieved in 2019/20 were on target 
compared to 74% in 2018/19.  
In 2019/20 the college achieved an AS Level Quality Indicator Score of 2, equal to 2018/19, placing the college in the 
top 20% of the ALPS cohort nationally. 84% of grades achieved in 2019/20 were on target, a 7% improvement when 
compared with the percentage of AS grades on target in 2018/19. 
FFT value added data reflecting 2019/20 A level outcomes will not be published by Welsh Government this year. 
 

Moving Forward: 
Whilst we will continue to measure success rates as an indication of comparative performance, a 3 A level consistent 
performance measure report is currently under development. This will enable comparable monitoring of 
performance against all other Welsh post 16 providers. 
The significantly higher achievement of the 3 A level measure against the Welsh average provides further evidence 
of strong progress towards the college’s ambition of having the best A level centre of any college in Wales.   
The college is working towards further sustained improvements in A level outcomes by: Page 54



 further refining A level entry qualifications 

 improving advice and guidance on the value and significance of level three vocational awards 

 forensically reviewing all A levels which do not attain acceptable outcomes in two out of three years 

 focusing on the attainment of higher grades 

 continuing to develop the best and most stimulating teaching and support 

 improving target setting and monitoring. 

 Improve AS-A2 retention, completion rate for 3 A Levels. 
 

Overview of Vocational results  
Vocational learners continued to perform well in 2019/20 despite the disrupted nature of their studies. Whilst the 
majority or results have been confirmed, the college is still awaiting results in Motor Vehicle, hair and beauty, care 
and childcare courses where a licence to practice is required. This is due to delays in assessment as a consequence 
of Covid 19. Where agreed adaptations to practical assessments are permitted, learners and staff are working hard 
to complete. Please note, however, that some qualifications Child Care are still awaiting further mitigations or delays 
from the Awarding Bodies.    

 
Conclusion: 
The College Executive is delighted with the College’s performance in August 2020 at all levels.  We recognise that 
these results are testament to the hard work and dedication of the students and teaching staff and also the parents 
and staff in Student Services who have supported the students throughout the past two years, particularly during the 
disruptions in Spring 2020. We are confident that we have established protocols and procedures to enable us to 
rigorously monitor and support our students in order to maintain the current performance, whilst at the same time 
recognising that there are areas of our provision that we need to further refine in order to ensure that all our students 
fulfil their true potential.   

 
Overview of successes and achievements – student case studies   
The following section provides a snapshot of student successes and achievements for pupils who previously studied 
at our local feeder schools.  
 

Learner Case Studies 
 

Afon Taf High School  
 
Past Afon Taf High School pupil, Emily Steed, achieved a B in Biology, B in Mathematics and a C in Chemistry.  
 
Tabitha Williams and Katie Kinsey both past Afon Taf high school pupils, achieved D*D*D* in their BTEC Level 3 
Health and Social Care diplomas and have now progressed on to study Adult Nursing at the University of South 
Wales. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Also celebrating alongside Tabitha and Katie were Zoe Coughlan who achieved a double distinction and Katie Stewart 
who achieved a D*D*.  
  

 

Page 55



Past pupils Joseph Baker and Jordan Keast celebrated excellent results. Joseph achieved an A*in Sociology and an A 
in History and has now progressed on to Swansea University to study History.  
Jordan achieved D*D* in Sport and Engineering and has now progressed on to study Sport Conditioning at Cardiff 
Met.  
 

 
 
A level learner Ffion Bevan achieved fantastic results and has now progressed on to study Welsh at Swansea 
University. Celebrating alongside Ffion was Joella Nolan who achieved a D*D* in her BTEC level 3 Business. 
 

 
 
WVEP Engineering Ambassador Luke Protheroe achieved a Double Distinction Star in his Engineering course. Luke, 
who has secured an apprenticeship with General Dynamics, has excelled during his time at college and was also 
successfully awarded an internship with Brush Switchgear during the summer of 2019.   
 

Cyfarthfa High School  
Ian Williams achieved an A in Computer Science, A* in Maths, A* in Further Maths and A* in Physics. Former Cyfarthfa 
High School pupil Ian has now progressed on to study Physics at University.  
 
Speaking to the Education Minister, Ian Commented “I have thoroughly enjoyed my time at the college. My tutors 
have gone above and beyond to ensure I succeed, supporting me academically and by showing a true interest in me 
as a person.” 
 

 
 
  

Page 56



Celebrating alongside Ian was Archie Williams, also former Cyfarthfa High School pupil. Archie, also who was one of 
the college’s first ever cohort of learners to be awarded the Panasonic Trust Future Engineers Award, has progressed 
on to study Civil Engineering at University.  Archie achieved an A* in Further Maths, a B in Physics and a Distinction 
star in Engineering. 
 
 

 
 
Commenting on their results, Science and Engineering tutor, Martin Thomas, stated “I was so pleased for Ian and 
Archie. They worked really hard and thoroughly deserved their excellent results. I wish them all the very best for 
their future.” 
 
Amongst the college’s science high flyers was Fatima Hammed. Fatima achieved an A* in Biology, A in Physics, A in 
Maths and a B in Chemistry.  The former Aberdare Community School pupil is now looking forward to taking a gap 
year before progressing on to University.  
 
Alongside volunteering on the college’s learner assembly and being a proactive ‘Learner Ambassador’ for the college, 
Chemistry enthusiast and past Cyfarthfa High School pupil Thomas John, was celebrating after achieving 3 As in 
Chemistry, Biology and Computer Science. Thomas, who was also fortunate in being awarded the Worshipful Livery 
Company of Wales in recognition of his dedication to his studies, has now progressed on to study Chemistry at York 
University.  
 

 
 
  

Commenting on his results, Thomas, who has 

overcome significant challenges this year, 

stated “I am so happy with my results. Staff 

at the college go above and beyond to help 

you succeed. The vast amount of support I 

have received has enabled me to develop 

both academically and personally.” 

 

Page 57



 
Matthew Downes, past Cyfarthfa pupil, achieved a Distinction in his UAL level 3 Performing Arts. Matthew has now 
progressed on to READ Foundation College to study Musical Theatre. 
 

 
 
Former pupil John Busani achieved an A in Sociology, A in English Literature and a B in Psychology. 
 
Former Cyfarthfa High School pupil Heidi Jehu achieved an A* in Sociology, an A in Business and a D* in IT. Celebrating 
alongside Heidi was also Holly Jones, who also achieved an A* in Sociology and a B in Business.   Commenting on her 
results, Heidi stated “The thing that I most enjoyed about my time at the college is that the tutors treat you with 
respect and not just as their students. They help with any issues both academic and non-academic related. I found it 
to be a welcoming environment which made my past 2 years of education very enjoyable.” 
 
Other Business students David Williams and Tom Bush. David, former Cyfarthfa High School pupils also achieved 
excellent Business results. David achieved an A in Law and A in Maths and an A in Business. Tom achieved an A in 
Business, B in Psychology, B in Geography and a Distinction star in IT.  
 
Former pupil, Bridey Connolly successfully achieved D*D*D* in her BTEC Business course providing her with the 
points she needs to successfully progress on to university. Also celebrating with Bridey was Lyvia Jehu who achieved 
a D*D*D* in her BTEC Applied Science course. Lyvia will now progress on to study Psychology at Cardiff University.  
 
Engineering learners achieved some fantastic results with a number of learners achieving Distinction stars across the 
board. Troy Reynolds and Fabian Skrzypiec both achieved a D*. Troy has now progressed on to study Engineering at 
Swansea University and Fabian has successfully gained an apprenticeship with JCAC.  
 

 
 
Mia Evans achieved 3 A* in History, Religious Studies & Government and Politics. 
 
  

Page 58



 

Bishop Hedley Catholic High School  
 
Lois Mullins, former Bishop Hedley Catholic High School learner achieved an A in Biology, A* in Maths and an A in 
Further Maths, enabling her to progress successfully on to study Maths at Bath University.  
 
Caitlin Foley, former Bishop Hedley Catholic High School pupil achieved an A* in English Language and Literature, an 
A in Geography, A in History and an A in Religious Studies, enabling her to progress successfully on to study History 
and English at Aberystwyth University.   
 

 
 
Speaking to ITV Wales, Caitlin commented “The best part about college for me was the teachers. They were 
supportive when I first arrived in college during the transition from GCSEs and school to A levels and college. Their 
lessons were enjoyable, informative and I always felt that my teachers were motivating to help students get the best 
grades possible. On the whole, the tutors genuinely care about the students.” 
 

 
 
There were also triple distinction stars all round for Josh Long in his BTEC IT course. The former Bishop Hedley 
Catholic High School pupil has now too progressed on to study Cyber Security at the University of South Wales. 
  

Dominic Lewis, former Bishop Hedley 

pupil, achieved D*D*D* in his level 3 IT 

course. He has now progressed on to 

study Cyber Security at the University of 

South Wales. 

 

Page 59



 

 
 
Alex Moody achieved an A in Psychology, A* in History and an A* in Government and Politics. Former Bishop Hedley 
Catholic High School pupil Alex has now progressed on to study Government and Politics at Durham University.   

 
Pen Y Dre High School  
 
After two years of hard work, Ffion Wood successfully achieved D*D*D* in her BTEC Level 3 Sports course. Ffion is 
now taking a gap year prior to progressing on to university next year.  Celebrating alongside Ffion was Katie Mason, 
who achieved a Distinction and two Merits.  Katie has now progressed on to study Sports Coaching at the University 
of South Wales.  
 

 
 
Wojciech Jez achieved a triple Distinction* in his BTEC Business course with us and is now progressing on to study a 
Business Degree.   
 

 
 

Page 60



Other past pupils studying on Business and travel also performed very well. Libby Stent achieved a double distinction, 
Brandon Newman achieved a double pass and Courtney Taylor also achieved a double pass.  
 
Keeping in with the school’s tradition and high reputation for drama and music, past pupils Ashleigh Collins and Lewis 
Lee achieved distinctions across the board.  
 
A level learner Emily Richards achieved a Distinction Star in her BTEC L3 Subsidiary Diploma Sport FT A level, a C in 
Psychology and an A in Sociology, enabling her to successfully progress on to study Mental Health Nursing at Cardiff 
University. 
 

 
 
Public Services student and former Penydre pupil Ethan Scriven achieved D*DD on his BTEC L3 Public Services 
course.  
 

 
 
Alexandra Owens achieved BBC grades! Alexandra has now progressed on to study diagnostic radiography at the 
University of Exeter. 
 

 
 
 Page 61



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Tom Bowditch was another one of our first cohort of ‘Royal Academy of Engineering Future Panasonic Trust Bursary 
learners. The past Penydre pupil successfully achieved a B in Design and Technology and a C in Physics enabling him 
to now progress on to study Engineering at Swansea University.  
 

 
 
 

Former pupil Emily Leese-Griffiths achieved a 

B in Sociology, B in Psychology and a B in 

History. Emily Leese achieved BBB. Emily has 

successfully been accepted on to study 

History and Politics at Cardiff University.  

Sophie Owens achieved D*DD! Sophie has now 

progressed on to study Midwifery at the 

University of South Wales. Celebrating excellent 

Health and Social Care results alongside Sophie 

were also past Penydre pupils Neve Miles who 

achieved a Triple Distinction Star, Patrycja 

Stulczewska who achieved a Distinction Merit 

and Tiegan Hope who achieved three merits.  

 

Page 62



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Forward Work Programme 2020/21  
 
 
1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance of the next scrutiny committee meeting. 

 
1.2 To remind Scrutiny Committee members that they need to consider the requirements 

of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 in all aspects of scrutiny 
work. 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 

2.1 The Committee considers the attached Forward Work Programme and approves, 
revises or amends it as deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions at 3.7 in 
planning for the next meeting.  

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 

3.1 The attached forward work programme identifies the topics and issues under 
consideration by the Scrutiny Committee and allows an opportunity for additional 
subjects to be identified and included on the programme. 

 
3.2 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda.  

 
3.3 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 requires each Public Service 

Board (PSB) and Council to work with their communities to develop local objectives. 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) and the Cwm Taf PSB have acted 
on this. 

Date Written 16th December 2020 

Report Author Scrutiny Section 

Committee Division Scrutiny  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 15th March 2021 

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



 
3.4 MTCBC has four local Wellbeing Objectives, each having clear outcomes that will 

help the Council to respond to local community needs and contribute to the seven 
national wellbeing goals. The four Wellbeing Objectives are:- 

 
 

BS Best Start to Life - Children and young people get the best start to life and are 
equipped with the skills they need to be successful learners and confident 
individuals.  
 
The key outcomes for Best Start to Life are: 
 

 Children live in a nurturing and stimulating home environment  

 Children have access to high quality pre-school and school education  

 Improve the educational outcomes for all children and young people  

 Children and young people have good health and wellbeing 
 
 

WL Working Life - People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the 
needs of businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr 
Tydfil as an attractive destination.  
 
The key outcomes for Working Life are:  
 

 Merthyr Tydfil realises its full economic potential, with a skilled workforce and 
better employment opportunities; 

 People value and enjoy the built and natural environment, protecting and 
enhancing our cultural assets for current and future generations;  

 We have strong, resilient and supportive communities where people take 
responsibility for their own actions and how they affect others.  

 
 

EW Environmental Wellbeing - Communities protect, enhance and promote our 
environment and countryside.  
 
 The key outcomes for Environmental Wellbeing are:  
 

 Environmental damage is minimised by preventing pollution 

 To maximise the amount of materials and resources recycled in line with the 
waste hierarchy; 

 Merthyr Tydfil has good quality, biodiverse and connected green infrastructure 
and open spaces; and 

 The use of renewable and low carbon energy is increased.  
 

LW Living Well - People are empowered to live independently within their 
communities, where they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health.  
 
The key outcomes for Living Well are: 
 

 People live safe and independent lives within their communities 

 Children and adults are safeguarded from harm and feel safe 

 Children and young people live safely with their family or close to home and 
have transitioned well into adulthood. 

 

 

Page 64



3.5 The Scrutiny Committee is encouraged to identify issues that reflect these priorities 
that are within your remit and/or are a priority for local people and communities. If a 
matter is a recurring issue for the people you, as Councillors, represent, the 
likelihood is that it is something that the Committee should consider. The more 
relevant the issue is to local communities then the greater the likelihood of engaging 
those communities in the scrutiny process and of producing outcomes that will be 
visible to those communities you represent. 

 
3.6 MTCBC has developed an ‘Our Shared Vision’ document (Appendix I). This makes 

the connections from the seven national Wellbeing Goals through to the local 
objectives and political priorities. This document is contained within one page and 
acts as an easy to understand guide. When considered with service area strategies 
and operational plans a thread is created that can be extended down to individual 
tasks. This helps staff members see how they are contributing to the Act and the 
‘Wales We Want’, and will assist Scrutiny members better understand the 
connections with the Act. 

 
3.7 The work programme is a dynamic document and is reviewed at every meeting of 

the Committee to ensure that its contents are still relevant and will add value to what 
the Council and partners are doing. At each meeting the committee will agree the 
agenda items for their next meeting and in preparation may in advance wish to ask 
itself the following questions. 
 

Q) Why has the item been placed on a Scrutiny Work Programme? 

a. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s wellbeing 
objectives? 

b. Does this item/ topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s corporate 
priorities/ objectives? 

c. Is this item/ topic relating to service performance concerns? 
d. Is this item/ topic of significant public interest? 
e. Does the item/ topic have any budgetary implications? 
f. Is this an item/ topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 

difference and achieve tangible outcomes? 
g. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 

resources? 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the Committee? 

            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 
 

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department; 

 b.  to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose; 
 c.  to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue; 
d.  to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation/ review; 
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue. 
 
 

 

Page 65



Q) What outcome is the Committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item? 

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 
c. To receive an overview presentation. 
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy/ strategy 
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work.  

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the wellbeing objectives/ other plan/ other strategy. 

g. Improvement in service delivery 
 

Q) What information does the Committee need to fulfil this role/ achieve 
this outcome?  

What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas/ 
solutions. 

 

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police, Strategic Partners etc 

 

Q) Does the Committee need to ask for written representations? 

The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate/ Cabinet 
Member/ External Partner etc. prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the Committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending to ensure that they have the information/ 
answer ready for the meeting.  

 

Q) Which meeting format/ venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 

 Due to the outbreak of the Covid-19 global pandemic, all scrutiny committees 
are to be held via Microsoft Teams at least for the time-being. This decision 
has been taken to ensure the safety of our members, officers and all others in 
attendance. Currently, there is no clear indication of when hybrid meetings will 
be appropriate; and this will be reviewed in line with any updates and advice 
from U.K. and Welsh Government. 

 
Even under normal circumstances, meetings do not have to be held in a 
formal committee room environment. You may wish to hold occasional 
meetings in community location settings e.g. community centres, sports 
facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the formal setting 
intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see first-hand 
what the committee is investigating/ obtaining information on e.g. waste sites, 
regeneration projects etc. 
 
 

Page 66



Q) Method of Scrutiny? 

 Once Members have identified the matters they wish to scrutinise, 
consideration should be given to scoping the subject in more detail including 
the timing and method of scrutiny to be used. Support in this process will be 
given by the Scrutiny and Support Manager and Officer. Members may wish 
to: 

a. Consider an item at a single meeting; 

b. Consider an item over a series of meetings; 

c. Allocate the work to a small working group of Members (Task & Finish group) 
to investigate the issue over a period of 2-3 months (this may involve visits to 
see how services are working in practice); 

d. Undertake an Inquiry Day (or days); 

e. Undertake joint scrutiny with members of another Scrutiny Committee; 

f. Invite expert witnesses to give their views; 

g. Seeking the views of service users/ carers and/ or the general public (public 
calls for evidence) 

 
 
 
Performance and Scrutiny Department 
MTCBC 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Statement of Wellbeing 
& Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our 
Community 

4th April 2018 MTCBC Website 
 
Full Council 4th April 2018  
 
 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67

http://democracy.merthyr.gov.uk/documents/g2694/Public%20reports%20pack%2004th-Apr-2018%2017.30%20Full%20Council.pdf?T=10&LLL=0


 
 
 
 

  

APPENDIX I 

Page 68



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Date / Timing Overarching Item Linked to MTCBC’s 
Wellbeing Objectives 

(Corporate Objectives)? 

Officer & Cabinet Member 
 

 (Other) 
Scrutiny Focus  

21st 
September 
2020 

Draft Annual Work 
Programme 2020/21 

BS Best Start to Life  Scrutiny and Challenge: -  To consider the draft 
Annual Work programme for 2020/21 
 

Learning Department’s 
Response to Covid-19 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the impact and 
response of the Learning Department following the 
outbreak of Covid-19.  
 

School’s Response to Covid-
19 

BS Best Start to Life  Scrutiny and Challenge: - Head Teachers of Pen-Y-
Dre High School and Troedyrhiw Primary School to 
attend to discuss schools response to Covid-19. 
 

19th October 
2020 

CSC Delivery Programme: 
Commitment to Raising 
Aspirations Raising Standards 
(RARS) 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Willmott: 
Senior Challenge Advisor 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To provide challenge to 
CSC in relation to their commitments towards Raising 
Aspirations and Raising Standards.  

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 2) and the 
Corporate Self Evaluation KQ2 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

30th 
November 
2020 
Meeting 
cancelled due 
to Mass 
Testing 

Report on the role of Health 
and Early Years 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Chris Hole: Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: -  Representative(s) from the 
Health Board to attend to present to members what 
the Health Board does to support children and young 
people in particular the role in addressing issues such 
as low birth-weight, childhood obesity, levels of 
dental cavities. 

P
age 69



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

11th January 
2021 

Report on the role of Health 
and Early Years 
Deferred from November 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Chris Hole: Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: -  Representative(s) from the 
Health Board to attend to present to members what 
the Health Board does to support children and young 
people in particular the role in addressing issues such 
as low birth-weight, childhood obesity, levels of 
dental cavities. 

8th February 
2021 

Wellbeing: Report on Anti-
bullying  

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Chris Hole: Head of 
Community Wellbeing 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Learning Department 
will present a report which outlines the work being 
done to tackle issues around bullying across the 
County Borough including the growing issues in 
relation to cyber-bullying. The Head Teachers of 
Caedraw Primary School and Gellifaelog Primary 
School will also be in attendance to provide further 
insight in relation to the work being done around 
anti-bullying. 
 

ESTYN Self Evaluation 
Reporting (SER) Framework 
(Inspection Area 3) 
Deferred from January 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
on a specific Local Government Education Services 
Inspection Framework element. 

Learning Asset Management 
Plan (21st Century Schools) 
Moved from January - 
Deferred to 15th March 2021 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Head of School 
Planning & Improvement 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive an update on the developments of the 
Asset Management Plan (21st Century Schools) 
projects for Learning. 

15th March 
2021 

Performance Measures for 
Education – This item has 
replaced: ESTYN Self 
Evaluation Reporting (SER) 
Framework (Inspection Area 
1) due to unavailability of 
data 

BS Best Start to Life   Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Willmott: 
Senior Challenge Advisor 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - The Scrutiny Committee 
will receive a report from the Chief Education Officer 
which outlines the changes to performance 
measures across Education settings. 

P
age 70



Learning and LGES Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2020/21 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area and 
the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 

 

Additional items to consider for Work 

Date to be 
confirmed 
 

To invite / visit Heads and Chairs of Governance at the following schools :- 
 

 Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Santes Tudful 

 Pen-y-dre High School 

 Ynysowen Community Primary School 

 Visit Educated Other Than at School (EOTAS) to see what provision is available (before 8th April). 

 Visit LRB’s (Learning Resource Basis) as part of the programme of visits. 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Capita One System – Update Report 
Deferred from 15th March. Date to be confirmed 

Date to be 
confirmed 

Learning Asset Management Plan (21st Century Schools) 
Deferred from February to March. Date to be confirmed 

 

Update on Activity – 
Pandemic 
 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Emma Strand: Data 
Officer 

Scrutiny and Challenge: To consider the impact and 
response of the Learning Department following the 
outbreak of Covid-19. Update from report which was 
presented to the Learning & LGES Scrutiny 
Committee on the 21st September 2020. 

26th April 2021 

Focus on Additional Learning 
Needs (ALN) (report to 
include update on the 
Readiness Tool) 
 

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer – 
Learning / Sarah Bowen: 
Inclusion Manager 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To receive a report on 
Additional Learning Needs (ALN) that should also 
include updates on the ‘Readiness Tool’ which was 
presented to Learning & LGES Scrutiny Committee on 
the 25th November 2019. 

Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) 
Update Report 

BS Best Start to Life  Scrutiny and Challenge: - Some narrative here… 

Impact of Covid-19 and the 
Learning Department’s 
Response to the Pandemic – 
Brought forward to 15th 
March  

BS Best Start to Life Cllr Lisa Mytton: Cabinet 
Portfolio Member / Sue 
Walker: Chief Officer - 
Learning 

Scrutiny and Challenge: - To consider the impact and 
response of the Learning Department following the 
outbreak of Covid-19. Update from report which was 
presented to the Learning & LGES Scrutiny 
Committee on the 21st September 2020. 

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Performance Measures for Education
	Appendix 1

	4 Update on Activity – Pandemic
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4

	5 Forward Work Programme 2020/21
	Appendix 1


